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Key Figures 

 Telecommunication 25.9 % 

 Machinery 22.3 %

 Medical equipment 12.0 %

 Test systems 10.5 %

 Automotive and transportation 9.3 %

 Watch industry 6.2 %

 Research, development, defence 3.1 %

 Other industry 10.7 %

Sales by application

Employees

Sales by region

 Switzerland 65.4 %

 Europe 31.8 %

 Other 2.8 %
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 Production (580) 81.0 %

 Administration (73) 10.2 %

 Marketing (63) 8.8 %.
.
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in CHF 1000    2006 2005

Income statement
Net sales   174,253 113,572

Operating income   175,306 115,285

Change in %   52.1% 148.6 %

EBITDA   15,982 17,177

as % of sales   9.2 % 15.1 %

EBIT   9,175 11,405

as % of sales   5.3 % 10.0 %

Net profi t   7,231 8,517

as % of sales   4.1% 7.5 %

in CHF 1000   2006 2005

Balance sheet
Non current assets   131,107 129,017

Current assets   92,102 77,630

Total assets   223,209 206,647

Shareholders’ equity   128,939 108,602

as % of total assets   57.8 % 52.6 %

Total liabilities   94,270 98,045

as % of total assets   42.2 % 47.4 %

Number of employees (31 December)   716 720

The 2005 fi nancial statements include the newly acquired Electronicparc Holding AG 
operations as of 1 July 2005
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Who is Cicor Technologies?

• Cicor Technologies operates in niches and is either the 
market or technology leader in these areas. Its clients are 
globally active companies.

• Cicor Technologies Group’s strategic orientation is 
focused on three drivers:
– A distinct niche policy
– Cutting-edge technology
– Highest service quality

• Cicor Technologies follows an unambiguous growth strat-
egy based on:
– Organic growth above the industry average
– Acquisitions of small and medium-sized businesses 

with clear niche orientation and high profi tability.

• Cicor Technologies is a Swiss Group of technology com-
panies listed on the Swiss Stock Exchange (SWX).

• Cicor Technologies supplies the electronics industry with 
high quality services and products worldwide:
– The companies of the PCB Division produce highly com-

plex printed circuit boards (PCBs). These rigid, semi-
rigid and fl exible products may be manufactured as pro-
totypes for express “Quick-Turn Service” delivery, as 
well as for small, medium or large production series.

– The companies of the Group’s EMS Division (Contract 
Electronic Manufacturing Services) offer complete pro-
duction outsourcing services from engineering to manu-
facturing.
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The story so far

2006
• The restructuring and integration of the EMS Division 

companies is completed.
• The Group decides to create a new and third «Microelec-

tronics» Division
• Preparations are made to acquire some successful com-

panies in this new Division
• In December 2006 the intention to acquire Reinhardt 

Microtech AG is announced. This acquisition will provide 
Cicor Technologies access to the US market.

• Cicor Technologies obtains an option to acquire a major-
ity of the ESG Group in Singapore. This bridgehead in Asia 
will offer cost-effective production capacities in Indone-
sia and Vietnam, as well as a “Management Hub” in Sin-
gapore.

• Cicor Technologies gains access to the Asian procure-
ment market.

• The management of the Cicor Technologies Group is sig-
nifi cantly strengthened.

• Cicor Technologies is well prepared to cope with future 
dynamic organic growth and acquisitions.

2003
• Cicorel Holding SA reports sales of CHF 23 million with a 

loss of CHF 12 million.
• The Board of Directors decides to pursue a new strategic 

orientation.

2004
• After acquiring two circuit board companies, Photoche-

mie AG of Unterägeri and NMS SA of Moudon, the Group 
achieves sales of CHF 46.4 million and a net profi t of CHF 
2.1 million.

• The share capital is increased from CHF 3.5 million to 
CHF 12.4 million.

• Total assets amount to CHF 85.1 million and sharehold-
ers’ equity to CHF 48.9 million.

2005
• The creation of a second business unit, the EMS Division 

(Electronic Manufacturing Services) provides a broader 
industrial base and enables the Group to take advantage 
of opportunities along the added value chain.

• With the acquisition of Electronicparc Holding AG, Cicor 
Technologies Group achieves the critical mass required 
for success; sales increase to CHF 115.3 million and net 
profi t to CHF 8.5 million.

• The new name of the Group, Cicor Technologies, makes 
the strategic expansion of the business more visible to 
the outside world.

• Share capital increases to CHF 21.2 million. Total assets 
amount to CHF 204.6 million and shareholders’ equity to 
CHF 108.8 million.

• Market capitalization is CHF 191.2 million.
• The restructuring of Cicorel SA in Boudry returns this for-

merly loss-making company to operating profi t.
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• The net profi t margin of 4.1% was less than the 6 % tar-
geted for 2007. Were the restructuring contribution to be 
included, the net profi t margin would amount to 5.6 %.

• Earnings per share declined from CHF 5.31 to CHF 3.40. 
In accordance with IFRS guidelines, this calculation is 
based on the average number of issued shares in the year 
under review.

• Shareholders’ equity as at 31 December, 2006 amounted 
to CHF 128.9 million (57.8 % of total assets vs. 53 % for 
2005). 

• The Group’s market capitalization on 30 December, 2006 
was CHF 220.9 million compared to CHF 191.2 million for 
2005. 

These results were infl uenced by the following factors:
• The increase in sales was due to the fi rst-time 12 month 

consolidation from January 1 of all the companies in the 
EMS Division. During the previous year these companies 
were only consolidated from July 1.

• In 2006 the Group incurred restructuring costs in the 
PCB Division (merger of Cicorel SA and NMS SA, person-
nel changes at Photochemie AG and the introduction of 
an ERP platform) and, even more signifi cantly, costs due 
to the extensive restructuring and reorganization of the 
EMS Division.

• The integration of Auparc AG’s system assembly activities 
into Swisstronics Contract Manufacturing AG turned out 
to be more complex than expected.

• The restructuring and process re-engineering necessary 
at Systel SA and the company’s intention to be more 
active on the Italian market also meant that its manage-
ment and sales activities required strengthening.

• Completing the introduction of an ERP system in the EMS 
Division generated further expenses.

• At the Group level management functions were strength-
ened.

• Further costs were incurred during the preparation of 
planned acquisitions, the development of the new Micro-
electronics Division and the establishment of a bridge-
head in Asia.

Dear Shareholders
The consistent implementation of our growth strategy dur-
ing the recent years has brought signifi cant tangible and 
intangible added value to the Group, its customers, em ploy-
ees and also to you its shareholders. Cicor Technologies 
now stands on solid foundations and is well equipped to 
face the future. This applies to both our industrial and fi nan-
cial base as well as to the quality of management and staff. 
The product mix is right, the Group is well positioned and 
can now, within the framework of the group strategy, con-
centrate on the core task of exploiting profi table niches. In 
the wake of such rapid growth, a successful turnaround of 
the loss-making former parent company in Boudry and the 
solution of various structural problems in the EMS Division, 
it is not surprising that earnings were affected in 2006. The 
restructuring efforts associated with the integration of the 
EMS Division companies required a commitment of sub-
stantial fi nancial and human resources. This inevitably had 
an effect on the results and the 2006 fi nancial statements 
should be seen in this context. The transformation from a 
company without any recognizable strategy that reported in 
2003 sales of CHF 23 million with a loss of CHF 12 million, 
to an integrated group of complementary companies that 
only three years later generated sales of CHF 175 million 
with a profi t of CHF 7 million is a success story of which the 
management and all employees can be particularly proud. 
The impact of the comprehensive restructuring efforts of 
2006 with the investment in organizational and process 
structures should become evident in the 2007 fi nancial 
statements. Cicor Technologies has certainly made a very 
promising start to the new fi nancial year. Our investments 
in technology, processes, management and structures have 
strengthened and expanded our manufacturing base. 

The key fi gures for 2006 are as follows:
• Total operating income increased 52 % from CHF 115.3 

million to CHF 175.3 million.
• EBITDA declined from CHF 17.2 million to CHF 16.0 mil-

lion.
• Net profi t decreased from CHF 8.5 million to CHF 7.2 mil-

lion. This result does not include a restructuring contribu-
tion of CHF 2.6 million accruing to the Group.

Report of the Chairman and of the CEO
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In the PCB Division the strengthening of the management 
team and the resulting acceleration in the turnaround at 
Cicorel SA in Boudry, together with an increased demand 
for products made by the factory in Moudon, means a 
reduced level of dependence on Photochemie’s perform-
ance. The introduction of the ERP (Enterprise Resource 
Planning) platform and various personnel changes should 
ensure that Photochemie continues to develop success-
fully. The substantial investments made in technological 
competence, in particular in double-sided reel-to-reel pro-
duction processes, will have a sustained impact over the 
long-term.

Diversifi cation

Microelectronics
On December 13, 2006 Cicor Technologies announced the 
signing of a memorandum of understanding with the share-
holders of Reinhardt Microtech AG, Wangs (SG) to purchase 
this company and its German subsidiary in Ulm. This was 
concluded on 3 April 2007. By acquiring this high-tech fi rm, 
Cicor Technologies has taken another step toward greater 
diversifi cation, and has created a nucleus for its Microelec-
tronics Division. The Reinhardt Microtech Group specializes 
in thin-fi lm technology and is Europe’s largest manufacturer 
of client-specifi c substrates for high-precision resistance 
networks, radar technology and microsystems. Its products 
provide key technologies for European and American high-
tech companies and meet the requirements for a variety of 
applications in medicine, telecommunications, defense, 
aerospace and the automotive industry. The German sub-
sidiary Reinhardt Microtech GmbH in Ulm has the same 
technological competences as its Swiss parent. The Rein-
hardt Microtech Group employs about 80 people and in 
2006 achieved sales of more than CHF 17 million. The two 
new companies are expected to deliver solid double-digit 
growth for the newly established division. Through this new 
strategic partner, Cicor Technologies not only gains access 
to the very promising microelectronics sector, but also to 
the American market.

Milestones

Whereas in 2005 the diversifi cation of EMS activities marked 
a decisive change to create a broad manufacturing base 
and establishing the critical mass required for success, 
2006 was a year of consolidation. Our half-year report 
clearly described the concrete measures taken for this cost 
intensive restructuring process. These are explained in 
more detail below. Unfortunately these efforts did not lead 
to the desired effect in 2006 as planned. Apart from deal-
ing with the extensive restructuring programs, Cicor Tech-
nologies also completed numerous other important devel-
opment activities creating a platform for future business 
expansion and increased earnings.

Consolidation and Restructuring

The efforts undertaken between 2004 and 2006 have borne 
fruit. Cicor Technologies today plays an important integra-
tion role within the industry and is a respected and attrac-
tive outsourcing partner for global players in the relevant 
European markets. The acquisition of the EMS Division was 
completed with the payment of the fi nal installment of the 
variable purchase price, allowing clarifi cation and a redefi -
nition of the roles each company has within the EMS Divi-
sion. As part of this process, the positioning of Systel AG in 
Ticino was optimized and activities on the Italian market 
were intensifi ed.
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Meantime, another company was acquired for the new divi-
sion. RHe Microsystems GmbH of Radeberg in Germany 
operates in the same sector and offers the full range of sub-
strate manufacturing (thick layer, thin-layer, polymer tech-
nology) including the assembly of components, packaging, 
screening and tests. This means it can react fl exibly to meet 
individual client needs, such as combining different materi-
als and technologies in microelectronics. Technologically, 
RHe Microsystems complements Reinhardt Microtech, and 
its product range extends the added value chain. As a man-
ufacturing technology service provider RHe’s focus is in 
aerospace and telecommunications with a solid portfolio of 
well-known clients. The latest member of the Cicor Group’s 
Microelectronics Division employs about 60 people and in 
2006 achieved sales of EUR 6.65 million. The new Microe-
lectronics Division not only gives Cicor access to a new 
high-tech sector but also, particularly via RHe, to “Silicon 
Saxony”. This is the name given to Germany’s equivalent of 
Silicon Valley – the area around Dresden where billions 
have been invested in the microelectronics and semicon-
ductor industry, offering some 17,000 highly skilled special-
ists employment opportunities. Businesses such as AMD, 
Infi neon and other globally active companies and numerous 
renowned research institutions have located to the region. 

The three companies in the new division are technological 
leaders in their sectors and complement each other. “In-
House Micro Assembly” is one of the main complementary 
services.

Bridgehead in Asia
At the end of 2006 Cicor Technologies obtained the option 
to acquire the majority of ESG Holding, Singapore, a tech-
nology group with companies in Singapore, Indonesia and 
Vietnam. Through intensive cooperation with this Group, 
Cicor Technologies has gained an important entry point to 
Asian procurement markets and production capacities. 
ESG Holding’s companies offer key competences in various 
technologically demanding sectors, including SMT and THT 
technologies (Surface Mounted Technology and Through 
Hole Technology), bonding, precision tool-making and high-
end plastic injection. ESG’s customers are exclusively Euro-
pean manufacturers in the med-tech and automotive tech-
nology sectors - key markets for Cicor’s future. The 
geographical presence in Singapore, Indonesia and Viet-
nam offers Cicor Technologies a competitive cost structure 
and the cooperation with ESG will also give the Group’s cus-
tomers access to production facilities in Asia. Furthermore, 
the move into Asia gives Cicor Technologies access to man-
agement resources and useful networks in Singapore and 
partnerships with important local technology institutions 
elsewhere. ESG Holding is managed by Emil Strickler, a 
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Swiss national with more than 30 years of experience as an 
entrepreneur in Asia. He is also a co-shareholder in ESG 
Holding.

Group Structure

Simplifi cation of the Group structure continued during the 
year under review. The two PCB companies in Western Swit-
zerland, NMS SA and Cicorel SA, were merged. The former 
NMS is today managed as a Cicorel SA affi liate. This change 
avoids duplication of effort and simultaneously increases 
the effi ciency of sales, administration and production capac-
ities. Within the EMS Division, the integration of Auparc 
AG’s system assembly activities into Swisstronics Contract 
Manufacturing AG has been completed. This change proved 
very challenging and entailed higher costs than originally 
anticipated

Management Structure

To better cope with the strategic expansion of the business 
areas and the more complex management responsibilities, 
Cicor Technologies strengthened its management at vari-
ous levels.

Board of Directors
The Group’s successful growth required a change in the 
way the Board of Directors operates and initiated a series 
of organizational measures in response to continuing expan-
sion. In accordance with the requirements of modern Cor-
porate Governance it was decided to establish a Presidium 
under the leadership of the Board’s Chairman, Jean- Louis 
Fatio. It also appointed an Audit Committee and a Compen-
sation Committee effective 1 September 2006, and launched 
a thorough revision of the Group’s organizational regula-
tions. Following the sale of the participation in Cicor Tech-
nologies held by CGS (Jersey) Ltd., Dr. Rolf Lanz, as CGS’s 
representative, resigned from the Board of Directors on 
December 22, 2006.

Group Management
Due to the Group’s development plans, the current CEO, 
Robert Demuth, will assume wider strategic responsibilities 
as a designated Executive Member of the Board of Direc-
tors. Beginning May 2007, Lucas A. Grolimund (40), an 
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experienced industrial manager, will assume the responsi-
bility for the operational management as the Group’s new 
CEO. Graduated as an electrical engineer from the Swiss 
Federal Institute of Technology and an MBA from INSEAD 
Fontainebleau, he brings solid technical expertise and 
proven management experience to his new role. After his 
studies, he joined McKinsey and then Gate Gourmet where, 
as CFO and Member of the Executive Board, he played a 
major role in the company’s development. For the past 
three years he has been a CEO successfully managing the 
turnaround of a listed Swiss industrial group. Lucas A. 
Grolimund’s priorities as the new CEO of the Cicor Group 
will be to strengthen the management structures and to 
optimize the organization and the operational processes, in 
order to create the best possible conditions for further 
growth. Robert Demuth will in future concentrate on the 
Group’s further strategic development, as well as assessing 
and implementing acquisition projects and other strategic 
matters. He will work closely with Lucas A. Grolimund in the 
implementation of these plans. On 16 October 2006 Franz 
Rutzer commenced as CFO of Cicor Technologies. Franz 
Rutzer, 47, had a successful career in similar functions at 
various listed Swiss companies. He replaces Dr. Rolf Lanz, 
who performed this role on an interim basis since July 
2005.

Divisions and operating units
The new Microelectronics Division is headed by Hanspeter 
Reinhardt, the former Managing Director of Reinhardt 
Microtech AG. He will also be engaged in the management 
bodies of the Cicor Technologies Group. Dietrich Zahn will 
continue to manage the German RHe operation.
Beginning January 2007, the Unit Manager of Swisstronics 
Contract Manufacturing Services AG, André Bermann, took 
over as head of the EMS Division. This gives him responsi-
bility for the largest area within Cicor Technologies Group in 
addition to his existing duties. Beginning March 2006 André 
Müller took over as head of Cicorel SA in Boudry. The removal 
of this management vacuum has led to marked improve-
ments in processes, effi ciency and results.

Strategic Position

Cicor Technologies Group continues to follow its strategic 
focus rigorously. This strategy is based on the following 
three key drivers:

Clear niche policy
The Group companies’ business activities in Europe can 
only be successful if they focus on clearly identifi able mar-
ket niches – ones in which Far Eastern suppliers can not 
operate effi ciently. The PCB Division’s strategy is clearly 
focused on fi nding and exploiting such niches. This is also 
a primary focus for the companies of the EMS Division.

Cutting-edge technology
Maintaining and developing its technological leadership is 
another of the Group’s priorities, and one that is closely 
linked to its niche policy. The success of Swiss and Euro-
pean industry depends on innovative strength and an ability 
to develop individual solutions quickly and fl exibly. This 
requires companies and their employees to possess the 
very highest level of technological expertise. Cicor Technol-
ogies’ Group companies focus strongly on these require-
ments. Owing to the technological know-how in the high-
end segments, the creation of the Microelectronics Division 
will lead to synergies with the PCB companies, since the 
companies in both divisions occupy leading positions in 
connecting technology.

Quality of Service
Market leadership of the Cicor Technologies’ Group is 
attributable, not least, to the methodical efforts to concen-
trate on and improve service quality. Investments made in 
the past are now paying for themselves in various ways:
• Customer satisfaction 
• Effi ciency
• Positioning in high-value-added segments
Cicor Technologies is primarily active in three segments. 
The printed circuit board business is concentrated in the 
PCB Division. The companies active in electronic manufac-
turing services are grouped together in the EMS Division. 

Members of the Board of Directors and Operational Group Management (from left):
Franz Rutzer, Robert Demuth, Urs Wehinger, Michael Funk, Jean-Louis Fatio, Christian Welter, Waldemar Schmidt, Antoine Kohler
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With the creation of the Microelectronics Division begin-
ning 2007, Cicor has access to new technologies and fur-
ther markets. The structuring of the Group into a diversifi ed 
technology enterprise is continuing and the associated 
expansion of the industrial base is being intensifi ed. With its 
presence in Asia and market access in the USA, Cicor Tech-
nologies has become a globally active company.

Outlook

The budgets of the Group companies and subsidiaries are 
ambitious. The Management and Board remain positive 
about the market environment and assume demand will 
remain stable. After completion of the restructuring and 
with a strengthened management structure, it is expected 
that organic growth across the entire Cicor Technologies 
Group will resume. The restructuring measures taken in 2006 
have created a platform from which to further develop the 
existing customer base and markets as well as to increase 
productivity. Cicor Technologies is in a position to use its 
existing technologies to develop new applications. Manage-
ment will focus on further operational improvements in the 
Group companies and on exploiting specifi c synergies. 
Financial resources are adequate to fi nance the CHF 9 mil-
lion investment projects required. For the 2007 fi nancial 
year, Cicor Technologies expects sales to reach more than 
CHF 200 million.
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We would like to take this opportunity to thank our employ-
ees, who once again did an outstanding job in a complex 
environment last year. The change process required a great 
deal of commitment, understanding and spirit. These are 
essential prerequisites for the long-term success of such a 
fast growing Group. On behalf of the Board of Directors, we 
would also like to thank our customers and business part-
ners for their trust and cooperation. Our gratitude also goes 
to our company’s management bodies – the members of 
the Board of Directors and managers at the Group compa-
nies – who have dedicated their creativity and energy to the 
good of our Group. Naturally we also thank our sharehold-
ers whose loyalty and support is greatly appreciated.

Jean-Louis Fatio    Robert Demuth
Chairman of the Board of Directors   CEO
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3 January 2007
• Appointment of André Bermann, the Unit Manager of 

Swisstronics Contract Manufacturing AG, to Head of the 
EMS Division and member of the Cicor Technologies 
Group Management Board

3 April 2007
• Completing the acquisition of Reinhardt Microtech AG, 

Wangs (SG) and of its German subsidiary Reinhardt Micro-
tech GmbH, Ulm

• Completing the acquisition of RHe Microsystems GmbH, 
Radeberg (Germany)

• Increasing the share capital of Cicor Technologies by CHF 
620,000 from CHF 21,242,100 to CHF 21,862,100 against 
a contribution in kind from Reinhardt Microtech AG

• Formation of the third “Microelectronics” Division with 
the companies of the Reinhardt Microtech Group and 
RHe, under the management of Hanspeter Reinhardt

• Nomination of Hanspeter Reinhardt as a member of the 
Cicor Technologies Group Management Board

Mid May 2007
• Lucas Grolimund will assume the responsibility as CEO of 

the Cicor Technologies Group
 

Important events after closing the accounts
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Board of Directors Board of Directors:
Jean-Louis Fatio, President
Michael Funk, Vice-Präsident
Urs Wehinger, Secretary
Christian Welter, Delegate
Antoine Kohler, Member
Waldemar Schmidt, Member

Robert Demuth, CEO
Franz Rutzer from 16.10.06
Stephan Bürgin until 31.12.06
André Bermann, from 03.01.07

Jean-Louis Fatio, President 
Christian Welter, Member

Operational Group Management

Presidium   

See Corporate Governance

Cicor Technologies Structure

PCB Division EMS Division

Organisation structure
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Group structure

Cicor Technologies

Cicor Management AG
Zurich/Switzerland

PCB Division EMS Division

All participations are 100 % directly or indirectly held.
See also page 82.

Systel SA
Quartino/Switzerland

Systronics Srl
Arad/Romania

Photochemie AG
Unterägeri/Switzerland

Swisstronics Contract 
Manufacturing AG

Bronschhofen/Switzerland

Swisstronics Contract 
Manufacturing AG

Rapperswil-Jona/Switzerland

Cicorel SA
Boudry/Switzerland

Cicorel SA
Moudon/Switzerland



18  PCB Division

22  EMS Division
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PCB Division

esses and increased marketing activities also contributed 
to the reduction in EBIT. These efforts toward strengthening 
the base augur well for 2007.

Market Environment
According to industry estimates, the global growth for 
printed circuit boards in 2006 was about 9 %. The market 
size is more than CHF 55 billion (Europe 6.4, USA 9.1, Japan 
11.1, Southeast Asia 27.1, RoW 1.5). Markets in the Far East 
continue to grow faster than those in the other regions. The 
trend highlighted in our last annual report has continued, 
with production of simple PCBs migrating from Europe to 
the Far East. Europe’s relative share of the global market 
has again declined. Nevertheless, the European production 
of complex PCBs, the segment in which the companies of 
Cicor Technologies’ PCB Division are predominantly active, 
recorded further growth.

Activities
The companies in Cicor Technologies’ PCB Division are 
among the leading suppliers of complex and sophisticated 
printed circuit boards for their markets in Europe. The Divi-
sion’s three operating units in Unterägeri, Boudry and Mou-
don are active in clearly defi ned niches and complement 
each other with practically no duplication nor overlap. The 
companies produce rigid, semi-rigid and fl exible multilayer 
PCBs using HDI technology. HDI stands for “High Density 
Interconnects”, and describes higher packing density and 
functionality of an electronic assembly group. Customers 
of the PCB Division are mainly OEMs from industries such 
as medical technology, automotive, semi-conductors, tele-
communications, research and development and watch 
making. Photochemie AG concentrates on manufacturing 
prototypes and small series of highly complex PCBs, while 
Cicorel SA in Boudry and its branch in Moudon produce 
medium sized and large series. The focus is on serving cus-
tomer segments with the very highest technical require-
ments for their printed circuit boards.

Brief Overview 2006
The main developments during 2006 were the integration 
of NMS SA in Moudon into Cicorel SA in Boudry in the form 
of a merger and the strengthening of the management 
structures at Cicorel SA. The site in Moudon now operates 
as a production facility of Cicorel SA. The companies of the 
PCB Division made a good start to 2006 but, due to market 
conditions, were unable to maintain this momentum into 
the second half of the year. This was particularly felt at Pho-
tochemie AG in Unterägeri, where demand from three key 
customers dropped signifi cantly. Nevertheless, Photoche-
mie still accounted for the major part of the Division’s 
results. The EBIT margin at 12.4 % of sales was 1.6 percent-
age points below fi gures the previous year, but still repre-
sented an above average performance for the circuit board 
industry. In absolute fi gures the decline in EBIT compared 
to 2005 was CHF 0.7 million. Apart from the soft market in 
the second half of the year, the restructuring costs related 
to introducing more sophisticated systems, stabilizing proc-
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growth in semiconductors, while the telecommunication 
sector in Europe has continued to shrink owing to the shift 
of the high-volume business to Asia. It managed to establish 
itself as the exclusive worldwide supplier of prototypes to a 
number of important clients. Photochemie exploits its 
strength as a niche player, and in 2006 was able to increase 
the proportion of short-term orders from 31 % of the previ-
ous year to 48 %. During 2006, considerable management 
capacity was devoted to restructuring and stabilizing the 
organization. Photochemie is now better positioned to fur-
ther expand in its principal markets of telecommunications 
and the semiconductor industry – with a higher degree of 
process security and competence. The signifi cant invest-
ments in 2006 included the introduction of an ERP system 
for process optimization, an alkali etching facility and other 
technical equipment. A total of CHF 1.5 million was invested 
or allocated for investment.

Key Figures

in CHF 1 000  2006  2005

Net Sales   53,255  52,288

EBIT   6,613  7,300

In % of net sales   12.4 %  14.0 %

Headcount at end-year  226  222

Net Sales per Region:
Europe   66.9 % 64.3 %

Switzerland   29.1%  31.1%

Rest of the world   4.0 %  4.6 %

Photochemie AG
Photochemie AG is one of Europe’s leading producers of 
highly complex printed circuit boards and is one of only a 
few companies to manufacture rigid multi-layer PCBs with a 
very high number of layers (up to 50) using HDI technology 
(ultra-fi ne conductors, all types of microvia). It is focused 
on producing very small series with fast service (delivery 
deadlines of a few days). Photochemie AG’s customers are 
globally active electronics companies for whom time to 
market plays a central role in the development of their 
sophisticated products. Photochemie AG fulfi ls its custom-
er’s demands for extremely short delivery times, consistent 
compliance with quality standards and state-of-the-art tech-
nology. Photochemie AG’s strengths are its dedication, fl ex-
ibility, technical expertise of its employees and low produc-
tion reject rates, making the company surpass the industry 
benchmark. The company is known for its high level of ser-
vice quality which contributes to its competitive leadership.  
Photochemie is the most labor-intensive of the three manu-
facturing operations in the PCB Division and the success of 
the company is attributable not only to its good positioning 
in the market but also to the excellent qualifi cations of all 
it’s employees. Photochemie AG retained its share of the 
Swiss, Italian, Danish and US markets. Sales increased 
strongly in Germany, the UK and France but continued to 
decline in Scandinavia. The company achieved its largest 
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Outlook
We believe that 2007 will be a positive year for the Division. 
The overall development of the electronics industry, which 
will continue the trend of increasing displacement of pro-
duction to Asia, will not seriously affect Cicor’s printed cir-
cuit board companies due to their established positioning 
in the market place. We expect the Division to increase 
sales and earnings. Thanks to the ongoing optimization 
processes within Cicorel SA, a disproportionately increase 
in profi tability is expected.

Robert Demuth
Head of PCB Division

Cicorel SA
Cicorel SA, with its operations in Boudry and Moudon, spe-
cializes in producing medium to large series of fl exible, rigid 
and rigid-fl exible PCBs using HDI technology. It is one of the 
few companies in Europe to produce printed circuit boards 
using reel-to-reel technology. This enables Cicorel to offer 
customers an extremely cost effi cient production process. 
Clients usually develop their printed circuit boards in close 
collaboration with Cicorel SA. This cooperation on develop-
ment leads to solutions that give the clients the functional-
ity they need combined with optimum production effi ciency. 
In particular, Cicorel SA’s clients appreciate its employees’ 
ability to fi nd client-specifi c solutions to complex technical 
problems. The company made further important progress 
in 2006. The proportion of sales derived from the profi table 
med-tech and automotive markets increased. With its spe-
cialization in production technologies that are particularly 
suited to the manufacture of PCBs for the watch making 
industry, medical technology and sensor applications, 
Cicorel SA achieves a high level of productivity and can 
offer clients products at competitive prices. The company 
confi rmed its core competence in manufacturing security-
sensitive components for the automotive sector. Despite 
the increased complexity of the products, the yield was fur-
ther improved. The PCB Division is clearly focused on quali-
tative and quantitative growth in its international markets.
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5 %. In 2006 the EMS Division’s priorities were to strengthen 
its order and customer portfolios. By acquiring new cus-
tomers, the Division reduced its dependency on existing 
major customers. The development of a strategic procure-
ment marketing capability was another priority to enable 
the Division to strengthen international sourcing, to reduce 
the number of different components and to shorten factory 
throughput times. The EMS Division has started to use the 
links the Cicor Technologies Group made in Asia and the 
new partners in Singapore, Indonesia and Vietnam are 
actively integrated into the procurement activities which 
have further optimized procurement costs and processes. 
The successful introduction of the ERP (Enterprise Resource 
Planning) platform should ensure that the integration and 
collaboration between the different companies is even 
more effective and improve their ability to meet complex 
customer requirements. The integration of Auparc AG’s 
system assembly activities into Swisstronics Contract Man-
ufacturing AG was successfully completed. The activities 
that had formerly been within Auparc AG were raised to the 
Swisstronics standards. These structural improvements 
required a great deal of management capacity and gener-
ated higher costs than originally planned. The relevant syn-
ergies can now be exploited with the result that materials 
purchasing and engineering have become more effi cient. At 
Systel SA in Ticino, the turnaround was achieved and the 
management team strengthened. Order processing was 
improved here and at the factory in Romania with likewise 
improved delivery commitments. In 2006, the companies of 
the EMS Division were again able to establish themselves 
as leading technology partners for globally active custom-
ers.

Activities
The companies of the EMS Division offer their customers 
complete “Product Life Cycle Management” from the initial 
product idea through to a series production. As a networked 
competence centre, they offer their customers support dur-
ing every phase of the product lifecycle, from analysis of 
the needs and possibilities, to design, prototyping, produc-
tion, assembly, testing of integrated systems, global pro-
curement of components to logistics and after-sales repair 
services. Compared to in-house solutions, customers bene-
fi t from lower overhead costs, simple processes, greater 
effi ciency and more fl exibility, all of which considerably 
reduces the time to market for new products. The EMS Divi-
sion’s customer base consists of European companies in 
various industries, including renowned global organizations 
from medical technology, mechanical engineering, plant 
manufacture, industrial automation, telecommunications 
and transport technology. As a leading outsourcing partner 
for electronic engineering and manufacturing services (EMS) 
in Switzerland, southern Germany, Austria, northern Italy 
and France, the companies of the EMS Division are predes-
tined to develop products and then sustain them through-
out their lifetime. The global procurement partners used by 
the companies of the EMS Division and the attractive costs 
made possible by their procurement volumes represent 
clear and quantifi able benefi ts for customers. 

Brief Overview 2006
In 2006 management accelerated the integration of the 
EMS Division companies. The structures of the individual 
companies in terms of organization and processes were 
strengthened. Despite the progress achieved, the stabiliza-
tion of the organization remains a central topic in 2007. The 
increase in sales from CHF 61.3 million to CHF 121.0 million 
can be explained by the fact that the EMS Division’s results 
were consolidated for the whole of the 2006 fi nancial year. 
In 2005 consolidation only began from July 1. The reduction 
of the EBIT margin from 7.5 % to 3.0 % refl ects the high cost 
of restructuring and integration costs incurred. Had it been 
possible to report the restructuring contribution of CHF 2.6 
million as income, the EBIT margin would have been above 

EMS Division
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Systel SA
Systel SA is the competence center for high mix/low vol-
ume products, for the introduction of new products and 
handling orders for small and specialty series. In the past, 
the company had to cope with supply bottlenecks, but 
these technical problems in logistics and production proc-
esses were rectifi ed as part of the turnaround project and 
further optimized through additional effi ciency programs. In 
2006, production capacities were increased, delivery dead-
lines shortened and reliability improved. 

Systronics SRL
Over the course of the year under review, Systronics SRL in 
Arad, Romania, has been upgraded into a fully fl edged, 
modern electronics plant. Apart from labor-intensive THT 
(Through Hole Technology) assembly, the company has two 
SMT lines. The second SMT line commenced operation in 
the fourth quarter of 2006, doubling the plant’s capacity. 
The increasing demand for SMT components required 
expansion of this core capability at the factory in Arad.  The 
transformation of Systronics from a pure supply operation 
for the other EMS Division companies into a business unit 
that also acquires its own orders and serves customers 
directly is progressing well. During the year under review 
this direct business accounted for approximately one third 
of the Systronics volume. 

Market Environment
For 2006, the world EMS market was estimated to be more 
than USD 150 billion which implies a 7 % increase over 
2005. The largest geographical market is Asia with a 51% 
share, followed by the USA with 31% and Europe with 17 %, 
which is about USD 25 billion. The preferred markets served 
by Asian companies are the “4C” markets: cars, consumer 
goods, communication and computers.

Key Figures

in CHF 1 000 2006  2005

 (1.1. – 31.12.)  (1.7. – 31.12.)

Net Sales   121 028  61 284

EBIT   3 600  4 614

In % of net sales   3.0 %  7.5 %

Headcount at end-year  486  496

Net sales per Region:
Europe   16.3 %  18.9 %

Switzerland   81.3 %  79.8 %

Rest of the world   2.4 %  1.3 %

Swisstronics AG
With its fi ve SMT (Surface Mounted Technology) assembly 
lines, Swisstronics AG is the Division’s largest factory 
accounting for about 70 % of Division sales. It is the compe-
tence center for the highly automated assembly of complex 
PCBs in medium-sized and large series. Swisstronics AG 
leads the Division’s companies in technology and technical 
processes and with its lean organization and modern equip-
ment park it offers its customers solutions with an optimum 
cost/benefi t ratio. Swisstronics, based in Bronschhofen 
and Jona, obtained ISO 13 485 certifi cation in 2006, which 
means it can manufacture products and component groups 
for medical applications. Order acquisition from this indus-
try can now be accelerated and intensifi ed.
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Outlook 2007
The Division continues to work on its performance by inten-
sifying Division-wide improvement and productivity programs. 
Optimization activities will focus in particular on inventory 
management and the logistics processes for orders for the 
Romanian factory. The improvements will make the Division 
more competitive over the long term and further improve its 
position in the market. In addition, the order portfolio is still 
being expanded. Order acquisitions in the new and expanded 
business areas will also help to attract more clients in the 
system assembly sector. The EMS Division expects a posi-
tive performance in 2007, with increased sales and a signif-
icant improvement in profi tability. The success of the Divi-
sion does of course depend to a large extent on the general 
economic health of its major customers in Switzerland, south-
ern Germany and northern Italy.

André Bermann
Head EMS Division

Engineering
An engineering group was successfully established at Bronsch-
hofen. Its activities were realigned and the Group recruited 
additional professionals. The aim of this structural expan-
sion is to support product development in the early phases 
of the product lifecycle and to support industrialization.

Investments
Apart from a number of replacement investments for equip-
ment and the installation of a second SMT line at Systron-
ics, a new “Flying Probe Tester” unit was installed at Systel. 
This high-performance tester carries out high mix/low vol-
ume contact tests quickly and precisely, thus meeting the 
required high technical standards.
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Cicor Technologies is committed to meeting the high 
standards of Corporate Governance that seek to balance 
entrepreneurship, control and transparency whilst ensuring 
effi cient decision-making processes. 
This report explains how the management and control of 
the Company are organized and provides background infor-
mation on the Group’s executive offi cers and bodies, effec-
tive 31 December 2006. The report fully complies with the 
SWX Swiss Exchange standards on Information Relating to 
Corporate Governance effective since 1 July 2002.
The current Corporate Governance Report considers Cicor 
Technologies’ revised organisation regulation, effective 
1 September 2006.
In the following Corporate Governance Report the terms 
“Cicor”, “Company” shall be used alternatively to “Cicor 
Technologies” and the term “Group” for the Company and 
its subsidiaries. 

1. Group Structure and Shareholders

1.1 Group Structure
Cicor Technologies is registred in Boudry, Switzerland, and 
is operationally organised into the PCB and EMS Division. 
The Organisation and group structure are shown on page 
14 and 15. Cicor Technologies is the parent company and 
is listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange.

Market capitalization as of 30 March, 2007  CHF 218.9 million

Security symbol   CICN

Security number    870.219

ISIN   CH008702190

Without consideration of the Treasury Shares, see section 2.1 below

An overview on the Group’s affi liated companies is shown on page 82 and 89.

1.2 Signifi cant shareholders
As of the year end, the following shareholders exceeding 
the 5 % threshold of the Company’s share capital were 
known to the Company. The corresponding holdings were 
published in the Swiss Offi cial Gazette of Commerce 
(“SOGC”):

 Shares %* Shares %*
 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

CGS (Jersey) Limited, 

St. Helier, Jersey   < 5 246,047 11.6

Cicor Technologies, 

Boudry, Switzerland   < 5 200,000 9.4

FiFund Management AG,

St-Cergue, Switzerland 110,000 5.18  -

Vontobel Fonds 

Services AG, 

Zürich, Switzerland  114,434 5.39  -

3V Asset Management AG,

Zürich, Switzerland  140,000 6.59  -

* Percentages of total outstanding shares of the Company

Cicor Technologies is not aware of any shareholders’ agree-
ment regarding its shares.

As of 31 December 2006, a total of 1,351 (previous year 
1,483) shareholders were entered in the share register of 
Cicor Technologies. Out of these, 96 (previous year 105) 
were non-Swiss nationals who held a total of 9.3 % (previous 
year 26.3 %) of the Company’s share capital and voting 
rights.

1.3 Cross-shareholdings
Cicor Technologies has no cross-shareholdings with any 
other company exceeding a reciprocal 5 % of capital or vot-
ing rights.

Corporate Governance
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2. Capital Structure

2.1 Ordinary capital 
As of 31 December, the ordinary share capital of Cicor 
Technologies amounted to:

 31.12.2006 31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Registered shares

of CHF 10 par value 2,124,210 2,124,210 1,241,100

Nominal value (in CHF) 21,242,100 21,242,100 12,411,000

Share capital (in CHF) 21,242,100 21,242,100 12,411,000

As of 31 December 2006, the Company held 55,000 (previ-
ous year 200,000) of its own shares as “Treasury Shares”. 
For a detailed description please refer to section 26 of the 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

2.2 Authorized and conditional capital 
Authorized capital
The Board of Directors was authorized by the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting of 22 June 2005 to increase the share capital 
by CHF 6 million within two years by issuing a maximum of 
600,000 shares, each with a par value of CHF 10. These 
shares have to be fully paid up. The Board of Directors 
determines the issue price of the shares, the eligibility for a 
dividend and the procedures for paying in full. In the case 
of an acquisition or a reduction of indebtedness, the share-
holders’ pre-emptive subscription rights may be excluded.

Conditional capital
Cicor Technologies has a conditional share capital of maxi-
mum CHF 175,000 (for the issuance of 17,500 registered 
shares each with a par value of CHF 10). This capital is 
reserved for the exercise of option rights which the man-
agement and senior staff of the Company may be granted 
pursuant to an option plan to be authorized by the Board of 
Directors. Pursuant to such a plan, the option rights may be 
exercised at a price representing 80 % of the average stock 
share price of the preceding twelve months. The pre-emp-
tive subscription rights of the shareholders are excluded. 
As of 31 December 2006, no options were outstanding.

2.3 Changes in capital
The changes in capital for the last two years are described 
on pages 65 and 89 of this Report. 

2.4 Shares and participation certifi cates
The share capital of Cicor Technologies consists of 
2,124,210 registered shares with a par value of CHF 10 
each. The shares are fully paid up. With the exception of the 
shares held by the Company itself, each ordinary share is 
entitled to the same share in the Company’s assets and 
profi ts and bears one voting right at the Annual General 
Meeting provided the shareholder is registered with voting 
rights in the Company’s share register.
Provided that a shareholder does not request the printing 
and delivery of share certifi cates for its investment, the 
shares of the Company are held in collective deposit at SAG 
SIS Aktienregister AG rather than issued as physical certifi -
cates. At the request of some shareholders, the Company 
has issued a number of physical certifi cates. 
In accordance with the Articles of Incorporation of the 
Company, registered shares may be converted to bearer 
shares and bearer shares into registered shares at any 
time upon resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting. As of 
31 December 2006, the Company has not issued participa-
tion certifi cates.

2.5 Profi t sharing certifi cates
As of 31 December 2006, the Company has not issued 
profi t sharing certifi cates.

2.6 Limitations on transferability and 
nominee registrations
All shares of Cicor Technologies are registered shares and 
freely transferable without any limitation. Entry in the Com-
pany’s share register requires evidence that the shares 
have been transferred for ownership or benefi cial interest. 
There are no registration provisions for nominees. The 
share register is kept by the SAG SIS Aktienregister AG. 

2.7 Convertible bonds and warrants/options
The Company has not issued any convertible bonds or 
similar equity-linked debt instruments or options as of 
31 December 2006.
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3. Board of Directors

3.1 Members of the Board of Directors
On 31 December 2006 the Board of Directors (“Board”) 
of the Company consisted of the following persons:
 

Name, Position,  First election Current  Other activities
Nationality  term ends

Jean-Louis Fatio 2004 2007 • Member of the Board of Clinique de Genolier SA

Chairman*   • Montchoisi SA, Genorad SA (clinics)

Swiss   • Ballag AG (research in automation und electronics)

   • New Dimension AG (investment consulting for innovative industries)

    and F2 Capital Advisors SA

Michael Funk, 2005 2007 • Owner of Michael Funk & Co. (consultancy fi rm)

Vice-Chairman,    • Co-owner and Chairman of the Board of Lehner AG

non executive   • Chairman of the Board of Reppisch Werke AG

Swiss   

Christian Welter* 2004 2007 • Owner of Christian Welter Management Consulting 

Delegate    (consultancy fi rm)

Swiss  

Urs Wehinger 2004 2007 • Member of the Board of Bank Coop

Secretary,    • Member of the Group Committee of Basler Kantonalbank

non-executive   

Swiss 

Antoine Kohler 1995 2007 • Member of the Board of Sixt AG, Sixt Leasing AG (Switzerland) and

Non-executive    Sixt Holiday-Cars AG

Swiss

Waldemar Schmidt 2004 2007 • Chairman of the Board of Superfos A/S and Thrane & Thrane A/S,  

Non-executive    Denmark.  

Danish   • Vice-Chairman of the Board of Majid al Futtaim Group LLC, 

    Dubai, UAE 

   • Member of the Board of Kwintet A.B., Alfa Laval AB, 

    Enodis plc, and Welzorg Group b.v. 

   • Goodwill Ambassador of Copenhagen

* Member of the Board Executive Committee (up to 31 August 2006 
 Board Executive Committee BEC) and executive member of the Board of Directors.

Jean-Louis Fatio Michael Funk Christian Welter 
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Jean-Louis Fatio, Chairman
Born 1934, earned a Master degree in Applied Mathemat-
ics from UCLA and the MIT, PhD in Computer Sciences 
from the Federal Institute of Technology in Lausanne. Jean-
Louis Fatio began his career as an engineer in Europe and 
the USA. He became involved in numerous private equity 
and venture capital companies as an adviser or investor. He 
has also acted as member of the Board of several compa-
nies in the areas of banking, venture capital and pharma/
biotech such as Novimmune SA and Spinner Global Asset 
Management Ltd, New York. Jean-Louis Fatio still has invest-
ments in technology-related industries und acquired a 
majority stake in NM Holding SA and NMS SA in 1993.

Michael Funk, Vice-Chairman
Born 1941, earned a degree in electrical engineering from 
the Federal Institute of Technology in Zurich, Programme 
for Executives, Carnegie-Mellon University, Pittsburgh, 
USA. Michael Funk has held different leadership roles in 
the industry for more than 20 years. In the Oerlikon-Bührle 
Group he held various staff and line positions, was head 
of the military technology division and, from 1988 to 1990, 
he was CEO for the whole group.

Christian Welter
Born 1946, earned degree in electrical engineering from 
the Federal Institute of Technology in Lausanne, MBA from 
the IMD in Lausanne. Christian Welter started his career as 
an engineer at Control Data AG and Hayek Engineering AG. 
He held various management positions at Gipsconsult AG/
Gips-union AG (a subsidiary of Intergips AG, Schmidheiny 
group), Bucher-Guyer AG (a subsidiary of Bucher Industries 
AG) and was delegate director and CEO of Oerlikon Sch-
weisstechnik AG (a subsidiary of Air Liquide SA, Paris). 
From 1 July 2004 to 31 May 2005, Christian Welter acted as 
CEO of the Company.

Urs Wehinger
Born 1945, earned law degree from the University of Zurich, 
postgraduate studies in Paris und London (City of London 
Polytechnic). Urs Wehinger has served as legal counsel to 

the Union Bank of Switzerland and Swiss Volksbank in 
Zurich. He was a senior partner with the law fi rm Becchio 
Wehinger & Juri in Zurich und is currently a senior partner 
with the law fi rm Arnold Wehinger Kaelin & Ferrari in Zurich 
and Zug.

Antoine Kohler
Born 1956, earned law degree from the University of Geneva, 
postgraduate studies at the Graduate Institute for Interna-
tional Studies, Geneva. Antoine Kohler has been practising 
law as a qualifi ed attorney in Geneva since 1983. He is a 
senior partner with the law fi rm Perréard, de  Boccard, 
Kohler, Ador & Associés which advises the Group in legal 
matters. 

Waldemar Schmidt
Born 1940, graduated in industrial engineering studies. He 
has held various positions over 28 years, the most recent 
one being CEO of the Danish-based Company ISS, the 
world’s largest cleaning and facilities services Company 
with 250,000 employees. Between 2001 and 2003 he was 
an Executive-in-Residence at the IMD in Lausanne, Switzer-
land where he was responsible for a research project pub-
lished as a book: “Winning at Service – Lessons from 
 Service Leaders” (Wiley 2003). Waldemar Schmidt is co-
author of the Norby Committee’s Report on Corporate Gov-
ernance in Denmark. Waldemar Schmidt was awarded the 
order of “Knight of Danneborg” by the Queen of Denmark 
in 2000 and received “The Order of the Polar Star” by the 
King of Sweden. 

Rolf Lanz
Rolf Lanz, member of the Board and the Presidium, resigned 
from his functions in the Board on 22 December 2006.

Urs Wehinger Antoine Kohler Waldemar Schmidt



32  
Cicor Technologies Annual Report 2006     Corporate Governance

3.2 Other activities and vested interests
Information about other activities of the Board members in 
addition to their functions for Cicor Technologies is listed in 
the overview table above. Unless otherwise described in the 
above curriculum vitae, the non-executive members of the 
Board do not have any material business connections with 
the Group.

3.3 Cross involvement
There are no interdependent memberships in the Board of 
Cicor Technologies and other companies.

3.4 Elections and terms of offi ce
According to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, the 
Board consists of one or more members. The members of 
the Board are elected by the Annual General Meeting of 
shareholders for a term of offi ce of one year. There are no 
limits as to how many times a member can be re-elected, or 
any upper age limit for election.
According to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, the 
majority of the members must be Swiss citizens and domi-
ciled in Switzerland.

3.5 Internal organisational structure
The Board constitutes itself at its fi rst meeting after the 
Annual General Meeting of shareholders. It appoints its 
Chairman, Vice-Chairman, the Presidium and the Board 
committees as well as a Secretary, who does not need to 
be a member of the Board. 
The Board meets as often as the Company’s affairs require 
or upon the written request of one of its members. The 
Board approves resolutions and holds elections with the 
majority of its votes.
The Board is the highest executive instance within the 
Group management structure and takes responsibility of 
the overall governance of the Company and the Group. It 
oversees the management of their affairs. The basic princi-
ples regarding the defi nition of the areas of responsibility 
between the Board and the Group Management are 
described in section 3.6 below.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors
The Chairman heads the meetings of the Board, the Presid-
ium and the Shareholders’ Meetings. He supervises the 
implementation of the resolutions passed by the Board and 
coordinates the work of the Committees ensuring that the 
Board as a whole operates as an integrated, cohesive 
body.
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Upon the 7 September 2006 resolution and following the 
implementation of the Company’s revised Regulations, it 
was decided that the position of the Delegate of the Board 
will not be cancelled. The Delegate of the Board coordi-
nates the activities between the Board of Directors, the 
Presidium and the group management. Furthermore, he is 
responsible for investor relations. Delegate of the Board is 
Christian Welter.

The Presidium
The Presidium consists of the Chairman of the Board and 
up to two additional designated Board members. Following 
the implementation of the Company’s revised Regulations 
effective as of September 2006, the following members 
have been appointed to the Presidium: Jean-Louis Fatio, 
Chairman of the Board, Christian Welter, Delegate, and Rolf 
Lanz (up to 22 December 2006).
It is the fi rst priority of the Presidium to supervise the duties 
and functions undertaken by the CEO and CFO as well as 
the other members of the Group Management and to act as 
an intermediary between the Board and the offi cers 
entrusted with the management of the Group. The Presid-
ium takes decisions on fi nancial and other matters dele-
gated by the Board in accordance with the Regulations 
regarding the Delegation of Management. In particular, the 
Presidium is responsible for: 

• Preparing resolutions of the Board and for overseeing 
their implementation, where this function is not carried 
out directly by the CEO or by a Committee of the Board;

• Planning for the replacement of outgoing members and 
evaluating candidates for positions on the Board;

• Proposing to the Board for approval the members of the 
Committees of the Board, the members of the Presidium, 
the CEO, the CFO, the members of the Group Manage-
ment and the Division’s General Managers;

• Appointing members to the Board of subsidiaries and 
appointing their Unit Managers who have been proposed 
by the CEO;

• Determining the compensation packages (including pen-
sion benefi ts and incentives such as stock options etc.) 
of the senior management personnel of the Company, 
where this task is not assigned to the Remuneration Com-
mittee;

• Discharging other duties in the area of Corporate Govern-
ance, where such duties are not assigned to a Committee 
or Committee of the Board under the revised Regula-
tions;

• Supervising and performing the ad-hoc and regular infor-
mation requirements, especially under the SWX regula-
tions and guidelines;
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• Approving expenditures, investments or divestments of 
property, plant and equipment whose total value exceeds 
CHF 0.5 million. In case of investments and divestments 
whose total value exceeds CHF 2 million, the Presidium 
submits a report and a proposal to the full Board. 

In addition, the Presidium assists the Board on matters 
relating to fi nance, investment and capital assets and in 
evaluating risks pertaining thereto. It prepares proposals on 
such issues for a vote by the Board. Specifi cally, the Presid-
ium reviews:
• Financial planning, budgets and budget execution;
• Investments of liquid assets and fi nancial investments, 

including investments of assets by the Company’s post 
retirement benefi t plans;

• Longer-term business plans and strategy as well as their 
communication in the Company’s annual reports;

• Reporting of non-operational results.
The Presidium also makes decisions and takes preliminary 
action on behalf of the full Board in urgent cases.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of three Board members of 
which two members have not been nominated in the Pre-
sidium. Following the implementation of the Company’s 
revised Regulations in September 2006, the following mem-
bers have been appointed: Rolf Lanz (up to 22 December 
2006, afterwards: Christian Welter), Urs Wehinger and 
Antoine Kohler.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in supervising the 
management of the Company, particularly with respect to 
fi nancial and legal matters as well as in relations to compli-
ance with internal business policies and codes of practice.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee consists of three Board 
members of which two members have not been nominated 
in the Presidium. Following the implementation of the Com-
pany’s revised Regulations in September 2006, the follow-
ing members have been appointed: Christian Welter, 
Michael Funk and Waldemar Schmidt.
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for approving, 
upon proposal by the Presidium, the Group’s remuneration 
policy, the compensation packages of the members of 
Group Management and further key people, profi t-sharing 
schemes as well as pension fund benefi ts and other post-
employment benefi t plans.

Board Executive Committee 
(annulled effective end of August 2006) 
The Board Executive Committee, which was replaced due to 
the implementation of the Company’s revised Regulations 
Regarding the Delegation of Management, effective as of 
1 September 2006, by the above described Presidium, the 
Audit and Remuneration Committees, consisted of at least 
three Board members. During the year under review until 
31 August 2006, the following people were members of the 
Board Executive Committee: Jean-Louis Fatio, Chairman of 
the Board, Christian Welter, Delegate of the Board and Rolf 
Lanz.
The Board Executive Committee was until September 2006 
the only Committee of the Company Board. In accordance 
to the law, only the non-transferable and indefeasible duties 
of the Board, were not delegated to the Board Executive 
Committee. Within the non-transferable and indefeasible 
duties of the Board, the Board Executive Committee pre-
pared business and submitted proposals to the Board. The 
Board Executive Committee was not only the Committee of 
the Board, but also part of the Group Management.
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Operating methods of the Board, the Presidium 
and the Committees
Between 1 January and 31 December 2006, the Board has 
met for 4 ordinary Board meetings. The CEO and the CFO 
of the Group attended all meetings. On a selective basis, 
external advisers also participated at some meetings deal-
ing with specifi c subjects. The meetings of the Board lasted 
on average one day. 
For each Board meeting, the members were provided with 
adequate material in advance to prepare for the items on 
the agenda. At each meeting, the CEO presented the results 
of Cicor Technologies and its subsidiaries in detail. The 
members discussed the results comprehensively and, if 
required, instructed the CEO to take necessary actions or 
to draw up plans for measures. 
In 2006, the BEC/Presidium held 11 meetings, in addition 
to many phone conversations. The committees created by 
the Company’s revised Regulations hold one meeting dur-
ing the remaining months in 2006.

3.6 Defi nition of areas of responsibility
The duties and responsibilities of the Board, the Presidium 
and the Group Management are defi ned as follows: 
The Board holds the ultimate decision-making authority and 
decides on all matters which have not been reserved for or 
conferred upon another governing body of the Company by 
law, the Articles of Incorporation or Regulations regarding 
the Delegation of Management of the Company.
The Board has in particular the following non-transferable 
and indefeasible duties:
• Overall governance of the Company and the Group includ-

ing formulating medium and long-term strategies, plan-
ning priorities and laying down guidelines for corporate 
policy;

• Approving the annual group budgets and medium to long-
term group business and investment plans;

• Establishing the basic organisational structure;
• Defi ning the guidelines for accounting, fi nancial control-

ling and fi nancial planning systems;
• Taking decisions on transactions of substantial strategic 

signifi cance;

• Appointing and removing those responsible for managing 
the Company’s affairs and acting as its agent, in particu-
lar the members of the Presidium, the CEO, the CFO, the 
Division’s General Managers and other members of the 
Group Management;

• Appointing and removing the members of the Commit-
tees of the Board;

• Overall supervision of the bodies and offi cers responsible 
for the management of the Company;

• Drawing up the annual and interim reports, preparing the 
Annual General Meeting of shareholders;

• Notifying the court in the event of over-indebtedness;
• Proposing and implementing capital increases and 

amending the Articles of Incorporation;
• Checking the professional qualifi cations of the external 

group auditors.
The Board conferred management functions in the manner 
provided by the revised organisation regulation to the CEO, 
the Group Management or the Division’s General Manag-
ers. Thereby it follows the Company’s general principle 
expressing that all executive bodies and offi cers delegate 
their duties and powers to the hierarchically lowest possible 
body or offi cer that possess the knowledge and expertise 
necessary to make appropriate decisions. The transferable 
supervising and representative functions of the Board are 
delegated to the Presidium.
The Operational Group Management is responsible for the 
day-to-day operational business of the Group. Its main 
duties consist of:
• Conducting day-to-day business of the Group in compli-

ance with the applicable laws, Articles of Incorporation, 
regulations and instructions;

• Implementing the Group strategy;
• Preparing and executing the resolutions of the Board and 

ensuring their Group wide implementation;
• Reporting all matters to be dealt with by the Board, the 

Presidium and the Committees; 
• Accounting and analysis of the monthly results and 

semi-annual and annual accounts on Group and divisional 
levels as well as implementing the required internal 
control measures.
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4. Group Management

4.1 Members of the Group Management
The members of the Group Management are appointed by 
the Board upon proposal by the Presidium. The Group Man-
agement consists of the CEO, the CFO and the division 
managers. As of 31 December 2006, the Group Manage-
ment consisted of the following persons:

  Appointment/
Name, Nationality Position Period of offi ce

Robert Demuth CEO,  July 2005

Swiss Head of PCB Division

Franz Rutzer CFO October 2006

Swiss

Stephan Bürgin Head of EMS Division July 2005 until

Swiss   December 2006

André Bermann Head of EMS Division January 2007

Swiss

Robert Demuth
Born 1947, graduated in mechanical engineering from the 
Institute for Technology and Architecture in Luzern and 
earned a Master in Business Administration (MBA) from the 
University of St Gallen. He started his career at the Rieter 
Group and subsequently headed the research and develop-
ment division of the world-wide mechanical engineering 
company Bühler AG in Uzwil. Before becoming head of 
management at Cicor Technologies, he was CEO and dele-
gate director of the Board of Dyconex AG from 1998 to 
2005, a Swiss manufacturer of circuit boards, multi chip 
modules and service provider in the fi eld of electronic inter-
connect technology.

Franz Rutzer, CFO since 16 October 2006
Born 1960, graduated from the University of St. Gallen as 
an economist lic. oec. HSG and is a graduated Controller 
SIB from Controllerakademie SIB, Zurich. Franz Rutzer 
started his professional career as System Analyst and 
Project Manager for fi nance and controlling softwares with 
NCR (Switzerland). After a change to Zellweger Uster’s con-

3.7 Information and control instruments 
towards the Group Management
The Board receives from the Presidium annotated key data 
of all operative Group companies within the framework of a 
Group wide institutionalised reporting system. The format 
of the data is defi ned within an MIS (Management Informa-
tion System).
The Board analyses such data in detail in its meetings. At 
each meeting of the Board and the Presidium, the CEO, 
CFO and Division’s General Managers inform on the opera-
tional day-to-day business and all important business 
events. The members of the Board, the Presidium and the 
Board Committees are entitled to request information on all 
company-related issues.
See section 3.5 for additional information on the work 
methods of the Board, the Presidium and the Committees.
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4.2 Other activities and vested interests
No member of the Group Management held a position out-
side the Cicor Technologies Group which could be of signif-
icance to the Company. 

4.3 Management contracts
The business activities of Cicor Technologies are carried 
out by the Board, the Presidium and the Group Manage-
ment. Rolf Lanz (until 14 October 2006) has assumed the 
function of CFO in the reporting period under a manage-
ment agreement. Except for this function no management 
duties were delegated to legal entities or natural persons 
outside the Company. The compensation allocated to Rolf 
Lanz was based on actual costs and is included in the com-
pensations mentioned under section 5.2. The hourly fee 
was fi xed by the Board Executive Committee. 

trolling department, he took over several functions in 
fi nance and controlling with Motor-Columbus and Oerlikon-
Bührle. In 1998 Franz Rutzer was CFO and member of the 
management of Tecan Gruppe and later participated in the 
development of a regional organisation in Europe. From 
2004 to September 2006 he was Deputy CFO and Group 
Controller of Saia-Burgess.

Stephan Bürgin, Head of EMS Division from 
1 July 2005 to 31 December 2006
Born 1958, graduated in electrical engineering from the 
Engineering School Zurich in communications engineering. 
At Siemens Switzerland, the former owner of Swisstronics 
Contract Manufacturing AG he was “inter alia” responsible 
for product development, product management and project 
management. Since 2003, Stephan Bürgin has acted as 
CEO for the Swisstronics Contract Manufacturing AG, 
before he became Group CEO of Electronicparc Holding AG 
in 2004. Between July 2005 and the end of December 
2006, he managed the EMS division.

André Bermann, Head of EMS Division 
since 3 January 2007
Born 1971, graduated from the ETH Zurich (Swiss Federal 
Institute of Technology) as an operations and production 
engineer. From 1998 to 2003 he took responsibility of vari-
ous functions within Siemens Switzerland. 2003 he joined 
Swisstronics Contract Manufacturing AG (former Siemens 
Switzerland’s manufacturing unit). 2004 he was appointed 
Unit Manager of Swisstronics bearing full profi t responsibil-
ity. André Bermann has managed the EMS division since 
the beginning of January 2007.

Rolf Lanz 
Rolf Lanz terminated his functions as CFO of the Group as 
of 14 October 2006.
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5. Compensation, Shareholdings and Loans

5.1 Content and method of determining 
the compensation and the share-ownership 
programmes
The Board determines the remuneration of its members at 
the fi rst meeting after the Annual General Meeting of share-
holders. In addition, the Presidium proposes to the Board 
for approval the special fees payable to members of the 
Board who carry out specifi c functions or who render serv-
ices beyond the normal scope of their offi ce. In the year 
under review, the remuneration consisted of a lump sum 
in the amount of CHF 10,000 per person and year plus 
expenses. The members of the Board Executive Committee, 
in respect to the Presidium, did not receive any additional 
compensation for their activities in the relevant bodies.
Except for Rolf Lanz, who received advisory fees, the mem-
bers of the Group Management received a fi xed annual sal-
ary as well as a performance-related bonus approved by 
the Board Executive Committee.
The bonus of the CEO and the other members of the Group 
Management are based on quantitative objectives which 
are determined in an annual discussion between each mem-
ber of Group Management and the Board Executive Com-
mittee (starting 1 September 2006 the Remuneration Com-

mittee). The maximum bonus of a member of the Group 
Management is limited of a maxiumum to 40 % of the fi xed 
annual salary. The annual salary conforms to the level for 
comparable positions in similar Swiss industrial companies 
of an equiva lent size.
In the year under review, no option plan was in force. There 
are no further compensation components such as bonus 
shares, exceptional fringe benefi ts, etc.

5.2 Compensations for acting members 
of governing bodies
In the year under review, the compensations for the execu-
tive members of the Board and members of the Group Man-
agement amounted to a total of TCHF 761. Compensations 
to the non-executive members of the Board amounted to a 
total of TCHF 82. 
The compensations mentioned hereunder do include the 
additional fees and remunerations listed in section 5.7. 
The Company has not paid any severance payments to the 
persons mentioned above who gave up their function in a 
governing body during the year under review.
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5.3 Compensations for former members 
of governing bodies
In 2006, no compensations were paid out to former mem-
bers of governing bodies.

5.4 Share allotment in the year under review
In the year under review, no shares were allotted to any 
member of the Board or to any member of the Group Man-
agement (or parties closely linked to such persons).

5.5 Share ownership
As of 31 December 2006, the executive members of the 
Board and the Group Management held a total of 118,472 
shares while the non-executive members of the Board held 
a total of 23,227 shares. These amounts include the share 
ownership of parties closely linked to such persons. 

5.6 Options
In the year under review, no options were allocated to 
any member of the Board or to any member of the Group 
Management (or parties closely linked to such persons).

5.7 Additional fees and remunerations
In 2006, advisory fees amounting to a total of TCHF 32 
were paid to two non-executive members of the Board.
Out of this, TCHF 27 was paid to the law fi rm Arnold 
Wehinger Kaelin & Ferrari, whose Partner Urs Wehinger is a 
member of the Board.

5.8 Loans to members of governing bodies
No loans, securities, advances or credits were granted to 
any members of the Board or the Group Management 
(or parties closely linked to such persons).

5.9 Highest total compensation
In 2006, the highest total compensation for a member of 
the Board amounted to TCHF 50.
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6. Shareholders’ Rights

Each registered share of the Company entitles the owner/
benefi ciary of the share to one vote at the Shareholders’ 
Meeting, provided that he is registered in the share register 
of the Company as a shareholder with voting rights.

6.1 Voting rights and representation restrictions
There are no statutory restrictions on voting rights. All 
shareholders, provided that they are registered in the share 
register of the Company as shareholders with voting rights, 
have the same right to attend the Shareholders’ Meeting or 
to be represented by a legal representative or, with written 
authorization, by another person, by governing bodies of 
the Company, by the independent voting proxy, or by a 
depository proxy. 

6.2 Statutory quorum
The Shareholders’ Meeting passes its resolutions with the 
absolute majority of the votes allocated to the shares 
represented. If a second ballot is required, the relative 
majority of the votes allocated to the shares represented is 
suffi cient for the adoption of an agenda item. In the event 
of equality of votes, the Chairman has the casting vote. 
According to the Articles of Incorporation, a resolution of 
the Shareholders’ Meeting passed by at least two thirds of 
the votes represented and the absolute majority of the par 
value of shares represented are required for:
• Changing the purpose of the Company;
• Introducing shares with privileged voting rights;
• Limiting the transferability of registered shares;
• Increase, authorized or conditional of share capital;
• Increasing capital out of equity, against contributions in 

kind or for the purpose of acquisition of assets and grant-
ing special benefi ts;

• Limiting or withdrawing pre-emptive rights;
• Changing the domicile of the Company;
• Dissolving the Company without liquidation.

6.3 Convocation of the Shareholders’ Meeting
Shareholders’ Meetings are convened by the Board and, if 
required, by the Auditors at the latest twenty days before 
the date of the meeting. The Annual General Meeting of 
shareholders is held at the latest within six months of the 
close of the fi nancial year. Extraordinary Shareholders’ 
Meetings can be called as often as necessary, in particular, 
in all cases required by law.
Shareholders registered in the share register with voting 
rights representing an aggregate of at least 10 % of the 
share capital may request in writing, setting forth the items 
to be discussed and the proposals to be decided, that an 
extraordinary Shareholders’ Meetings is convened.
The Company publishes the invitation to the Shareholders’ 
Meeting in the “SOGC”, as well as the “Neue Zürcher Zei-
tung”, the “Finanz und Wirtschaft” and in “L’Agéfi ”. Simul-
taneously, the written invitation is sent to the shareholders 
or benefi ciaries who are entered in the share register of the 
Company.
The invitation contains details of the day, time and place of 
the meeting as well as the agenda and the proposals of the 
Board and the shareholders who have requested the Share-
holders’ Meeting or an item to be included on the agenda.

6.4 Agenda
Shareholders registered in the share register with voting 
rights, whose combined shareholdings represent an aggre-
gate nominal value of at least CHF 1 million may request 
that an item be included in the agenda of a Shareholders’ 
Meeting. Such a request shall be made in writing at least 
sixty days before the meeting and shall specify the items 
and motions to be included in the agenda.
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6.5 Entry into the share register
The SAG SIS Aktienregister AG keeps the share register for 
the Company which contains the names and addresses of 
shareholders and the number of shares they have regis-
tered. After dispatch of the invitation to the Shareholders’ 
Meeting, no entries can be made in the share register until 
the day after the Shareholders’ Meeting has taken place. 
This rule conforms to the Articles of Incorporation and 
was applied in this form at the previous Shareholders’ 
Meetings.

7. Changes of Control and Defence Measures

7.1 Duty to make an offer
The Company does not have an opting-up or opting-out 
clause in its Articles of Incorporation meaning that the 
mandatory bid obligation of the Swiss Stock Exchange Act 
is triggered if a shareholder or a group of shareholders act-
ing in concert acquire more than one third of the outstand-
ing shares of the Company.

7.2 Clauses on changes of control
There are no specifi c clauses included in agreements and 
schemes benefi ting members of the Board or Group Man-
agement in the event of a change of control situation.

8. Auditors

8.1 Duration of the mandate and term 
of offi ce of the lead auditor
The Annual General Meeting of shareholders elects the 
auditors for a term of one year. Ernst & Young SA or a sub-
sidiary of the Ernst & Young Group has been auditing the 
consolidated and statutory fi nancial statements since 1993. 
On 22 June 2006, Ernst & Young assumed the auditing man-
date for the Cicor Technologies Group again. The auditor in 
charge of the current mandate is Bernhard Büchel.

8.2 Auditing fees
Ernst & Young charged during the year under review a total 
of TCHF 326 for their services in connection with auditing 
the consolidated and statutory fi nancial statements.

8.3 Additional fees
Ernst & Young charged during the year under review a total 
of TCHF 10 for further services.

8.4 Supervisory and control instruments 
pertaining to the audit
The Audit Committee supervises and controls the external 
auditors. It determines the targets of the audit and assesses 
the work of the external auditors and their fees. In 2006, the 
Audit Committee respectively the Board Executive Commit-
tee (until 31 August 2006) and the external auditors met 5 
times in order to discuss the auditing of the fi nancial state-
ment of the Group and its subsidiaries and to review the 
corresponding “Management Letter” which was drafted by 
the external auditors.
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9. Information Policy

For the benefi t of its shareholders and the public interested 
in the business activities of the Company, Cicor Technolo-
gies pursues an open and transparent information policy 
which is in accordance with the legal and regulatory require-
ments. In terms of periodical as well as ad hoc reporting, 
the Company aims in particular to guarantee equal treat-
ment with respect to time as well as to the information con-
tent. On the basis of the published information, the share-
holders and the public interested in the Company shall be 
in a position to critically assess their relationship with the 
Company. In order to ensure that all investors are treated 
equally, the Company has a clear policy to prevent insider 
dealings. The corresponding guidelines contain provisions 
regarding the handling of confi dential information to which 
all persons concerned within and outside of the Company 
are subject, as well as clear instructions regarding time and 
form of the respective publication.  
From internal availability to approval of the semi-annual or 
annual results by the Board, the Company and its manage-
ment refrain from communicating to the investing public 
any qualitative and quantitative statements and information 
which might give an indication as to the expected sales or 
results. Immediately after the Board meeting where the 
semi-annual and annual reports are approved, the general 
public is informed in summary about the course of business 
by means of an ad hoc announcement.
Furthermore, the Company informs its shareholders, the 
media, fi nancial analysts and other interested parties by 
using the following publications and channels:

• Annual and Interim Reports in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS);

• Presentation of Annual results;
• Shareholders’ letter;
• Shareholders’ Meeting;
• Press releases as well as publications of share price-

sensitive facts (ad hoc publicity);
The 2007 General Annual Meeting will be held on 21 June 
2007. The Interim Report is planned to be published on 
21 September 2007.
For additional information about Cicor Technologies and its 
subsidiaries, please visit the Group’s website (www.cicor.
com, www.cicor.ch). Inter alia, previous annual reports and 
press releases can be found on the website. The Delegate 
of the Board of Directors and member of the Presidium, 
Christian Welter (christian.welter@cicor.ch), is responsible 
for investor relations (Telephone +41 79 409 40 91).
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     restated*
in CHF 1000   Notes 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Assets
Property, plant and equipment   (1) 42,886 43,332

Intangible assets   (2, 27) 87,971 85,555

Other non-current receivables    250 130

Non-current assets   131,107 129,017
Assets held for sale   (1) 2,000 2,000

Inventories   (3) 33,282 31,796

Trade accounts receivable   (4) 28,325 23,411

Other accounts receivable    4,638 4,540

Other current assets    313 –

Prepaid expenses and accruals    637 1,519

Cash and cash equivalents   (5) 22,907 14,364

Current assets   92,102 77,630
Total Assets   223,209 206,647

in CHF 1000    31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Ordinary share capital   (10) 21,242 21,242

Share premium account    98,979 97,772

Treasury shares    –4,389 –15,960

Retained earnings   (27) 12,779 5,548

Translation adjustment    328 –

Shareholders’ equity   128,939 108,602
Long-term provisions   (6, 27) 1,355 3,287

Deferred tax liabilities   (7, 27) 2,417 3,041

Long-term fi nancial liabilities   (8) 34,193 41,287

Other long term liabilities   (17) 260 1,007

Long term liabilities   38,225 48,622
Short-term fi nancial liabilities   (8) 21,452 15,034

Trade accounts payable    21,752 19,575

Other accounts payable    2,786 4,895

Other current liabilities and accruals   (9) 8,265 7,647

Short-term provisions    737 1,244

Income tax payable    1,053 1,028

Current liabilities   56,045 49,423
Total equity and liabilities     223,209 206,647

* see note 27

  

Consolidated Balance Sheet
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in CHF 1000   Notes 2006 2005

Sales   (13) 174,253 113,572

Changes in work in progress    402 1,431

Other operating income    651 282

Operating income   175,306 115,285
Material costs     – 90,668 – 53,698

Personnel costs   (16) – 52,338 – 34,770

Other operating expenses    – 16,318 – 9,640

Depreciation    – 6,807 – 5,772

Operating expenses   – 166,131 – 103,880
Profi t from operating activities before interest and taxes (EBIT)  9,175 11,405
Financial income   (15) 1,800 701

Financial expenses   (15) – 3,420 – 2,316

Profi t before tax   7,555 9,790
Income tax   (7) –324 – 1,273

Net profi t   7,231 8,517
Basic and diluted earnings per share (CHF)   (18) 3.40 5.31

Consolidated Income Statement
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in CHF 1000   Notes 2006 2005

Profi t before tax   7,555 9,790
Depreciation    6,807 5,772

Interest income    – 419 – 232

Interest expenses    2,227 1,751

(Gain)/loss on disposal of assets    – 256 133

Increase/(decrease) in provisions    – 1,944 – 7,360

Increase/(decrease) of other non-current liabilities   - 746 –

Unrealized currency (gains) / losses    – 87 96

Subtotal before working capital changes   13,137 9,950
Decrease /(increase) in inventories    – 1,410 – 875

Decrease /(increase) in trade accounts receivable   – 4,628 3,734

Decrease /(increase) in other current assets    786 2,784

(Decrease)/increase in trade accounts payable   1,974 3,663

(Decrease)/increase in other current liabilities   – 2,552 – 7,469

(Increase)/decrease in working capital   – 5,830 1,837
Cash generated from/(used in) operations   7,307 11,787
Income tax paid    -962 – 973

Interest paid    -1,864 – 1,375

Interest received    419 161

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities    4,900 9,600
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (1) –3,768 – 4,588

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   (1) 292 –

Purchase of intangible assets    – 228 –

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired   (21) 2,600 – 18,471

(Increase)/decrease in other non-current assets   -119 47

Net cash used in investing activities   – 1,223 – 23,012
Proceeds from issue of share capital/from sale of treasury shares (10,  21,  26) 7,990 13,518

Increase/(decrease) in shareholder’s loans    – –1,100

Payment of fi nance lease liabilities    –1,426 –1,369

Proceeds from borrowings    9,398 28,654

Repayments of borrowings    –11,108 –13,155

Financing costs related to capital increase     – –1,164

Net cash from/(used in) fi nancing activities   4,854 25,384
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   8,531 11,972
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  (5) 14,364 2,392
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    8,531 11,972

Currency translation effects    12 –

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  (5) 22,907 14,364

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement



Cicor Technologies Annual Report 2006    Financial Statements
  49

 Share Share Treasury Retained Translation
in CHF 1000 capital premium shares  earnings reserve Total

Balance at 1 January 2005 12,411 39,187 – – 2,726 – 48,872
Restatement IAS 8 (note 27) – – – – 243 – – 243

Capital increases 2005 8,831 59,749 – – – 68,580

Financing costs related to 

capital increase – – 1,164 – – – – 1,164

Treasury shares – – – 15,960 – – – 15,960

Net profi t for the year  – – – 8,517 – 8,517

Total income – – – 8,517 – 8,517
Balance at 31 December 2005 21,242 97,772 – 15,960 5,548 – 108,602
Treasury shares – 1,207 11,571 – – 12,778

Net profi t for the year – – – 7,231 – 7,231

Translation adjustment – – – – 328 328

Total income – – – 7,231 328 7,559
Balance at 31 December 2006 21,242 98,979 – 4,389 12,779 328 128,939

Please also see notes 10.

Consolidated Statement 
of Changes in Equity  

Under Swiss law, dividends are paid out only after approval by the Shareholders’ Meeting. 
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1. Corporate information

Cicor Technologies, Boudry, is a public company, the shares 
of which are traded on the Swiss stock exchange.
As the parent company of Cicor Technologies Group, the 
purpose of Cicor Technologies is to acquire, dispose and 
manage subsidiaries.
The Cicor Technologies Group is active in the manufactur-
ing of printed circuit boards (division PCB) and in providing 
electronic manufacturing services to the electronics indus-
try (division EMS).
The consolidated fi nancial statements of Cicor Technolo-
gies Group for the year ended 31 December 2006 were 
authorized for issue on 2 April 2007.

2. Principles of consolidation

General principles
The consolidated fi nancial statements of Cicor Technolo-
gies Group are based on uniform accounting and valuation 
principles applicable to all subsidiaries of the Group. The 
consolidated fi nancial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Stand-
ards (IFRS) and the requirements of the Swiss Code of Obli-
gations.
The consolidated fi nancial statements have been prepared 
on an accrual basis under the historical cost convention, 
except for the valuation of items for which IFRS requires 
measurement at fair value. The only item concerned in the 
present balance sheet is assets held for sale.

Scope of consolidation
The consolidated fi nancial statements include all subsidia-
ries in which the Group, directly or indirectly, has more than 
50 % of the voting rights or over which it exercises control. 
According to the full consolidation method, the assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses of subsidiaries are fully 

incorporated from the date control is transferred to the 
group. Intercompany balances, transactions and profi ts are 
eliminated on consolidation. A list of the signifi cant subsid-
iaries is disclosed in note 25. 

Purchase accounting method
Assets and liabilities are measured at fair value at the date 
of acquisition when the newly acquired subsidiary is 
included in the consolidated fi nancial statements for the 
fi rst time. The portion of the purchase price  exceeding the 
fair value of the acquired net assets is capitalized as good-
will.

Foreign currency conversion
The consolidated fi nancial statements are presented in 
Swiss francs (CHF), which is the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency. Each entity in the group determines 
its own functional currency and items included in the fi nan-
cial statements of each entity are measured using that 
functional currency.
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the rate 
of exchange as of the transaction date. Gains and losses of 
foreign currency transactions and of converting year-end 
foreign currency balances are taken to income.
The fi nancial statements of subsidiaries that report in for-
eign currencies are translated into Swiss francs as follows:
• Balance sheet items: at year-end exchange rates
•Income statement and cash fl ow statement items: at 

average exchange rates for the year
The translation differences resulting from the conversion of 
fi nancial statements denominated in foreign currencies are 
directly charged to equity. At the date of sale of a foreign 
subsidiary, the respective cumulative foreign currency 
translation differences are recognized in profi t or loss.

 

Principles of Consolidation and Valuation
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Foreign exchange rates
   

 2006 2005

Closing  EUR  CHF 1.61  CHF 1.56

 USD CHF 1.22 CHF 1.32

 GBP CHF 2.39 CHF 2.26

 RON CHF 0.48 CHF 0.42

Average EUR CHF 1.57 CHF 1.55

 RON CHF 0.45 CHF 0.43

Treasury shares
Treasury shares are presented as deduction of equity. No 
gain or loss is recognized in profi t or loss on the purchase, 
sale, issue or cancellation of treasury shares.  

3. Principles of valuation

Financial instruments
Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade 
accounts receivable, other receivables and other non-
current receivables. Financial liabilities include bank bor-
rowings, bank overdrafts, mortgages, trade accounts pay-
able, and shareholder’s loans. The specifi c valuation 
principles for these items are presented under the respec-
tive headings below.
Financial liabilities that have a fi xed maturity are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 
Gains and losses are recognized in net profi t or loss when 
the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the amor-
tisation process.

Research and development costs
Research and development costs are charged to income, 
except that costs incurred on development projects are 
recognized as intangible assets to the extent that such 
costs are expected to have future benefi ts. Development 
costs initially recognized as an expense are not recognized 
as an asset in a subsequent period. Development costs that 
have been capitalized are amortized from the start of the 
commercial production of the product to which they relate 
on a straight-line basis over the expected period of future 
benefi ts but not exceeding 5 years.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accu-
mulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the 
assets as follows:

Land*  

Buildings    25 – 50 years

Improvements   max 10 years

Machinery      3 – 10 years 

Furniture and Equipment   5 – 15 years

Equipment    3 – 10 years

Vehicles   4 years

* Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefi nite life.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. 
Buildings held for sale are stated at the lower of its carrying 
amount or fair value less cost to sell. The fair value is sub-
ject to impairment testing at closing date.
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Impairment of assets
The value of fi xed assets and other non-current assets, 
including goodwill and other intangible assets, is assessed 
to ensure that the respective carrying value is not exceed-
ing its recoverable amount. If it is determined that an asset 
is carried at more than its recoverable amount, the asset is 
impaired (recognized as an impairment loss) to the extent 
that the resulting carrying value represents the expected 
estimated future cash fl ows. In accordance with the require-
ments of IFRS, goodwill amounts and other intangibles with 
an indefi nite life are subject to an annual or more frequent 
impairment test. 

Financial Leases 
Fixed assets acquired under leasing contracts where both 
the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially trans-
ferred to the lessee, are classifi ed as fi nance leases. Such 
assets are recorded at the lower of the estimated net 
present value of future minimum lease payments and the 
estimated fair value of the asset at the inception of the 
lease. Assets under fi nance leases are amortized over their 
expected economic service life.
Payments made under operating lease agreements are rec-
ognized on a straight-line basis as operating expenses.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable 
value. Cost for raw materials are measured according to the 
weighted average cost method. Cost of work-in-progress 
and fi nished goods include materials, related manufactur-
ing labour and related overheads. Net realizable value is the 
estimated selling price of the resulting fi nished product. 
Concerning work-in-progress, estimated losses on fi rm 
contracts correspond to the negative difference between 
the net realizable value and the estimated costs until fi nali-
zation of work-in-progress.

Trade accounts receivable
Trade accounts receivable are stated at nominal value less 
necessary allowances for bad debts.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, postal 
and bank accounts at sight and time deposits with original 
maturities of 90 days or less.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when:
• the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 

as a result of past events;
• it is likely that resources are needed to extinguish the 

obligation;
• the amount of the obligation can be estimated in a relia-

ble way.
A provision is recognized for expected warranty claims on 
products sold during the last two years, based on past 
experience of the level of repairs and returns.

Government grants
Government grants are recognized as income over the peri-
ods matching the related costs, which they are intended to 
compensate on a systematic basis. Government grants are 
only recognized when there is reasonable assurance that 
the company will comply with the conditions attached to 
them and that the grants will be received.
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Income taxes
Current income taxes are accrued based on taxable income 
of the current year and charged to income as incurred.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized 
for all temporary differences using the liability method. 
Temporary differences relate to differences between the 
tax and accounting bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred 
income taxes are measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply in the period when the asset is realized 
or the liability is settled.
Some of the Cicor Technologies Group subsidiaries benefi t 
from a tax exemption on federal, cantonal and municipal 
income taxes until fi scal year 2010.
Tax loss carry-forwards and other deferred income tax 
assets are capitalized only if it is probable that they can be 
used to be offset against future taxable profi ts.

Pension plans
There are various employee benefi t plans in existence within 
the Group, which are individually aligned with local condi-
tions in the respective countries. They are fi nanced either 
by means of contributions to legally independent pension/
insurance funds, or by recognition as employee benefi t lia-
bilities in the balance sheet of the respective subsidiary. 
For defi ned contribution plans as well as for multiemployer 
plans for which the costs associated with the defi ned 
benefi t plan are not known, the net periodic cost to be 
recognized in the profi t and loss statement equals the 
contributions made by the employer.
In the case of defi ned benefi t plans the net periodic cost is 
determined by an actuarial valuation by external experts, 
performed at a minimum every third year, using the pro-
jected unit credit method. Obligations under defi ned bene-
fi t plans are covered by plans with separate capital, in which 
the assets are managed separately from those of the Group 
by autonomous benefi t funds.

Under- or overfundings of defi ned benefi t plans are recog-
nized at market values in the balance sheet as a liability or 
an asset, taking into account any actuarial gains or losses 
or outstanding rights. Any assets resulting from surpluses 
in defi ned benefi t plans are limited to the value of the 
maximum future savings from reduced contributions or 
repayments; liabilities, on the other hand, are fully included. 
Actuarial gains and losses are directly recognized in the 
income statement.

Revenue recognition
Sales comprise goods sold to third parties after deduction 
of sales taxes and rebates. Revenues are recognized once 
the products are shipped to the customer.

Segment information
Cicor Technologies is active in two business segments 
which are the manufacturing of printed circuit boards (divi-
sion PCB) and the providing of electronic manufacturing 
services (division EMS). 
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Standard or Interpretation          Effective date  

IAS 1+19   Amendment – Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures  1 January 2006 

IAS 21  Amendment – The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates  1 January 2006 

IAS 39  Amendment – Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intra-group Transactions 1 January 2006 

IAS 39  Amendment – Fair Value Option   1 January 2006 

IAS 39 + IFRS 41   Amendment – Financial Guarantee Contracts   1 January 2006

IFRIC 4   Determining whether an Arrangement contains a lease  1 January 2006 

The changes of certain IFRS standards and interpretations 
effective from 1 January 2006 had no signifi cant impact on 
the presentation and valuation of the consolidated fi nancial 
statements.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with 
IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at balance 
sheet date as well as the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses. It also requires management to exercise its judg-
ment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies. Although these estimates are based on manage-
ment’s best knowledge of current events and actions Cicor 
Group may undertake in the future, actual results ultimately 
may differ from those estimates. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are signifi cant to the consoli-

dated fi nancial statements are discussed where applicable. 
They concern intangible assets including goodwill (where 
an estimation of the “value in use” of the cash generating 
units to which the goodwill is allocated is required) and pen-
sions (where the actuarial valuation involves making 
assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return 
of assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future 
pension increases).

IFRS standards and interpretations applied
IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and 
interpretations which were applied during the preparation 
of the fi nancial statements:
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New IFRS standards and interpretations not applied 
The following standards and interpretations with an effec-
tive date after the date of these fi nancial statements were 
not applied: 

Standard or Interpretation      Effective date  

IFRS 7 (and IAS32 and IAS30)  Financial Instruments: Disclosures   1 January 2007  

IAS 1  Amendment – Capital Disclosures   1 January 2007  

IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2    1 May 2006

IFRIC 9   Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives   1 June 2006

IFRIC 10   Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment   1 November 2006

IFRIC 11  IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions   1 March 2007

Upon adoption of IFRS 7, the Group will have to disclose 
additional information about its fi nancial instruments, their 
signifi cance and the nature and extent of risks that they 
give rise to. More specifi cally the Group will need to 
disclose the fair value of its fi nancial instruments and its 
risk exposure in greater detail. There will be no effect on 
reported income or net assets. 
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Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

1. Property, plant and equipment

  Land  Furniture and Other
in CHF 1000  and buildings Machinery equipment equipment 2006

Acquisition costs
Balance at 1 January 2006  26,797  49,189   6,660   749   83,395 

Additions  176  4,638   1,322   71   6,207 

Disposals  – – 3,617  – 21  – 119   – 3,757 

Reclassifi cation  23  – 6,056   – 1,141   498   – 6,676 

Translation adjustment  8  183   45   –   236 

Balance at 31 December 2006  27,004 44,337 6,865 1,199 79,405
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2006  – 4,307 – 32,840 – 2,682 – 234 – 40,063

Depreciation  – 869 – 4,292 – 1,145 – 501 – 6,807

Disposals  – 3,594 10 117 3,721

Reclassifi cation  118 5,784 682 93 6,677

Translation adjustment  – 3 – 30 – 13 – 1 – 47

Balance at 31 December 2006  – 5,061 – 27,784 – 3,148 – 526 – 36,519
Net book value
01. 01. 2006  22,490 16,349 3,978 515 43,332
31. 12. 2006  21,943 16,553 3,717 673 42,886
Fire insurance value 31.12.2006      126,785

Net book value of pledged assets (note 8)      12,427

Net book value of assets under fi nancial lease      6,643

General remark to the notes of the consolidated fi nancial statements: Unless 
otherwise stated all amounts in CHF 1,000 

Reclassifi cation was made mainly on obsolete fi xed assets which were fully 
depreciated. In the course of the implementation of new fi xed assets ledgers 
some reclassifi cations have become necessary. 
Assets held for sale (see also 2005, building held for sale): A third party real 
estate agency has been mandated for the sale of the building in La Chaux-de-
Fonds. The site is allocated to the PCB division.

Additions to property, plant and equipment comprise purchases (cash items) 
and additions of leased assets (non cash items). The total therefore differs from 
the amount in the cash fl ow statement.
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 Land Buildings  Furniture and Other
in CHF 1000 and buildings held for sale Machinery equipment equipment 2005

Acquisition costs
Balance at 1 January 2005  26,605 5,716 42,358 2,417 241 77,337

Acquisition of subsidiaries 15 – 3,402 2,703 460 6,580

Additions 545 – 3,451 1,659 97 5,752

Disposals – – – 326 – 117 – 130 – 573

Reclassifi cation  – 368 – 5,716 304 – 2 81 – 5,701

Balance at 31 December 2005 26,797 – 49,189 6,660 749 83,395
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2005 – 3,361 – 3,852 – 29,223 – 1,898 – 101 – 38,435

Depreciation – 767 136 – 3,938 – 900 – 302 – 5,771

Disposals  –  – 166 117 130 413

Reclassifi cation  – 179 3,716 155 – 1 39 3,730

Balance at 31 December 2005 – 4,307 – – 32,840 – 2,682 – 234 – 40,063

Net book value
01. 01. 2005 23,244 1,864 13,135 519 140 38,902
31. 12. 2005 22,490 – 16,349 3,978 515 43,332
Fire insurance value 31.12.2005      126,084

Net book value of pledged assets (note 8)      10,700

Net book value of assets under fi nancial lease      5,434

   

2005 
Building held for sale 
The building is the former production site of La Chaux-de-Fonds. Its book value 
of CHF 2 million is confi rmed to be equal to the recoverable amount estimated 
by experts. Consequently the building had been reclassifi ed to current assets. 
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2. Intangible assets

   Goodwill
in CHF 1000   restated* Software Brand Total

Balance at 31 December 2004    28,186 – – 28,186 

Additions (goodwill, see note 21, 22, 27)    50,253 405 6,711 57,369

Balance at 31 December 2005 (see note 21, 22)  78,439 405  6,711  85,555
Increase purchase price EMS (note 21)   4,788 – – 4,788

Decrease purchase price by restructuring contribution (note 21) – 2,600 – – – 2,600

Acquisition cost EMS   8 – – 8

Licence   – 220 – 220

Balance at 31 December 2006   80,635 625 6,711  87,971

* see note 27

2006
An additional amount of TCHF 220 was spent for a new consolidation software, 
which will be amortized over 5 years.

2005
The software licences of TCHF 405 as per 31.12.2005 are contractually assigned 
with an indefi nite life and serviced regularly. The brand name (TCHF 6,711) is 
recognized to have an indefi nite life and is attributed to a company well known 
in the market.

3. Inventories

in CHF 1000    31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Raw materials    27,823  25,710

Allowance for slow moving and obsolete items   – 6,466 – 5,543

Net value of raw materials   21,357 20,167
Work-in-progress    10,099 10,883

Allowance for excess quantities and lower of cost or market price  – 871 –1,832

Net value of Work-in-progress   9,228 9,051
Finished goods    3,509 3,315

Allowance for excess quantities and lower of cost or market price  – 812 – 737

Net value of fi nished goods   2,697 2,578
Total inventories   33,282 31,796
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4. Trade accounts receivable

in CHF 1000    31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Trade accounts receivable    30,777 25,051

Allowance for bad debts     – 2,452 –1,640

Total trade accounts receivable   28,325 23,411

5. Cash and cash equivalents 

in CHF 1000    31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Cash on hand    22,907 14,364

Time deposits (of up to 90 days)    – –

Total cash and cash equivalents   22,907 14,364
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6. Provisions

Long-term provisions

     restated* 
in CHF 1000  Restructuring  Warranties Other Total

Balance at 1 January 2005 (note 27)  –  – 293 293
Provisions acquired with Electronicparc Holding AG 1,650  882 277  2,809 

Additional provisions  –  415 –  415 

Unused amounts reversed  – 150  – 30 – 50  – 230

Balance at 31 December 2005  1,500  1,267 520 3,287
Additional provisions  –  250 156 406

Unused amounts reversed  –  – 838 – –838

Amount used  – 1,500  – – – 1,500

Balance at 31 December 2006  –  679 676 1,355

* see note 27

Short-term provisions

in CHF 1000  Restructuring  Warranties Other Total

Balance at 1 January 2005  470  – 4,250 4,720
Provisions acquired with Electronicparc Holding AG –  694 – 694

Additional provisions  –  550 – 550

Unused amounts reversed  – 70  – – – 70

Amount used   – 400  – – 4,250 – 4,650

Balance at 31 December 2005  –  1,244 – 1,244
Translation adjustments   –  10 2 12

Additional provisions  –  – 506 506

Unused amounts reversed  –  – 950 – 45 – 995

Amount used  –  – – 30 – 30

Reclassifi cation  –  – 215 215 –

Balance at 31 December 2006  –  89 648 737

2006
Most of the reversal of the provisions concerns the reassessment of warranty-
risk that is considered remote by the insurance company involved and another 
third party. Additional other provisions mostly concern VAT and “lower of cost or 
market” risks. In the course of the reorganisation of Auparc AG the correspond-
ing provision of TCHF 1,500 was used. The balance of other long term provisions 
consists mainly of jubilee benefi ts.
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7. Taxes

Major components of tax expense

in CHF 1000    2006 2005

Current income taxes    926 1,313

Income tax for prior years    22 67

Deferred tax    –624 –107

Total expense   324 1,273

Deferred tax liabilities

 restated*
in CHF 1000    31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Deferred taxes on intangible assets (note 27)    1,357 1,790

Deferred taxes on property, plant and equipment   388 467

Deferred taxes on provisions    349 –

Deferred taxes on inventories    189 509

Deferred taxes on receivables    134 275

Total   2,417 3,041

Balance at 1 January   3,041 688
Reversal of temporary differences    –624 –446

Impact of subsidiaries acquired    – 2,799

Balance at 31 December    2,417 3,041

*see note 27

2005
In long term provision the amount of TCHF 50 relates to the employment 
subsidy (note 19). The corresponding provision was reversed to the income 
statement in 2005. All long term provisions at year end concern warranty risks 
(TCHF 1,267) and a provisions for restructuring of Auparc AG (TCHF 1,500).
In short term provision the initial amount includes the contested construction of 
the production site in Boudry. The corresponding provision of TCHF 4,250 was 
reversed with the fi nal payment of the obligation. A provision is recognized for 
expected warranty claims on products sold during the last two years, based on 
past experience of the level of repairs and returns.
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Reconciliation of current income taxes and deferred taxes 

in CHF 1000    31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Profi t before tax   7,555 9,790
Weighted average income tax in %      – 2.7 % 6 %

Expected income tax expense    – 207 586

Effect from not recognized losses prior period   – 119 –

Effect of losses not capitalized during current period   167 573

Effect of tax rate changes compared to prior period   – 180 –

Effect of permanent differences due to cost restituation   454 –

Effect of permanent differences due to sale of treasury shares  94 –

Difference compared to actual tax expense current period   – 19 –

Adjustments for current tax of prior periods     22 67

Other adjustments    112 47

Effective income taxes   324 1,273
Effective income taxes in % of profi t before tax   4.3 % 13 %

Tax loss carried forward

in CHF 1000    31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Tax loss carried forward expiring 2007    2,262 5,561

Tax loss carried forward expiring 2008    – 182

Tax loss carried forward expiring 2009    3,489 3,440

Tax loss carried forward expiring 2010    9,875 23,268 

Tax loss carried forward expiring >2011    6,274 –

Tax losses carried forward on prior years’ losses were not capitalised for the tax 
exemption in companies concerned and since the possibility of using them is 
uncertain. Some of the subsidiaries benefi t from a tax exemption on federal, 
cantonal and municipal income taxes until fi scal year 2010 and 2013 respec-
tively. Therefore and because companies which were fully taxable generated 
losses in 2006, the expected average income tax rate became negative. 
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8. Financial liabilities

Long-term fi nancial liabilities

in CHF 1000    31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Mortgages    7,800 8,400

Financial leases    2,993 1,995

Borrowings, long-term    23,400 30,892 

Total long-term fi nancial liabilities   34,193  41,287

Short-term fi nancial liabilities

in CHF 1000    31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Bank overdrafts       242 1,389

Bank borrowings, short-term    11,400 2,350

Short-term portion of long-term borrowings    7,800 9,300

Mortgages    600 600

Financial leases    1,410 1,395

Total short-term fi nancial liabilities   21,452 15,034

Maturity of fi nancial liabilities

in CHF 1000    31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Within 1 year    21,452 15,034

Within 2 to 5 years    34,183 41,287

Above 5 years    10 -

Total fi nancial debts   55,645 56,321

2006
As of 31 December, 2006, the following amounts were 
outstanding under the syndicated bank loan (originally 
CHF 71 million): CHF 24 million acquisition fi nancing at an 
average fi xed rate of 3.3 % repayable at CHF 6 million p. a. 
until 2010; CHF 7.2 million refi nancing loan, at an average 
fi xed rate of 3.3 %, repayable CHF 1.8 million p. a. until 2010; 
CHF 5.4 million mortgage loan, at an average fi xed rate of 
3.1 %, partially repayable CHF 0.6 million p. a. until 2010; 
CHF 9.4 million of a credit line of 21 million for current use 

at a variable rate equal to the bank’s refi nancing cost plus 
variable margin depending on certain fi nancial ratios. The 
syndicated loan stipulates covenants such as leverage ratio, 
interest coverage ratio and equity ratio. All these fi nancial 
covenants are met as of 31 December 2006. In addition to 
the syndicated loans the group has a mortgage loan of 
CHF 3 million at a fi xed rate of 3.9 %, repayable in 2010 and 
a revolving loan of CHF 2 million at an interest rate of 4.0 % 
due in 2007. 
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2005
The group restructured its fi nancial debt in the course of 
the acquisition of Electronicparc Holding AG. An agreement 
was reached with a syndicate of banks on 31 August 2005. 
The contract stipulates a maximum amount of originally 
CHF 71 million (CHF 66 million as of 31 January 2006) for 
a tenor of 5 years. As per 31 December, 2005, the follow-
ing amounts were outstanding: CHF 30 million acquisition 
fi nancing (original amount of CHF 35 million), at an average 
fi xed rate of 3.1 %, repayable at CHF 6 million p. a. until 
2010; CHF 9 million refi nancing of existing debt, at an aver-
age fi xed rate of 3.3 %, repayable CHF 1.8 million annually 

until 2010; CHF 6 million refi nancing of a mortgage loan, 
at an average fi xed rate of 2.9 %, partially repayable CHF 
0.6 million annually, until 2010. CHF 1.4 million of a credit 
line of CHF 21 million for current use, at a variable rate 
equal to the banks refi nancing cost plus a margin of 1.5 % 
p. a. Margins applied in all fi nancial commitments under the 
syndicated credit line will decrease if EBITDA exceeds 
certain future benchmarks.
In addition to the syndicated loan, a group company has a 
mortgage loan of CHF 3 million at 3.9 % fi xed rate, repaya-
ble in 2010. Furthermore, group companies have a total of 
CHF 3.5 million of various short term fi xed advances 
in CHF and EUR, at fi xed rates of 2 % to 4 % with 3 and 
6 months. 
Assets pledged for own debts concern bank loans with a 
total outstanding amount of CHF 9.4 million. The mortgage 
deeds add up to CHF 10.6 million. No current assets are 
pledged.

9. Other current liabilities and accrued expenses

in CHF 1000    31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Advances from customers    2,694 802

Accrued expenses    5,571 6,845

Total   8,265 7,647

The mortgage deeds add up to CHF 10.6 million and an 
amount of CHF 0.3 million of current assets is pledged. 
The shares of the following companies at a book value of 
TCHF 112,145 (2005: TCHF 107,350) are in deposit with the 
lead bank pledged as collateral for the syndicated credit line: 
Photochemie AG, Cicorel SA, Electronicparc Holding AG.
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10. Issued capital

in 1000 CHF     31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Share capital at 31 December    21,242 21,242

2,124,210 registered shares of CHF 10.–  

Ordinary share capital
On 22 June 2005, the ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting 
resolved to increase the share capital from TCHF 12,411 to 
TCHF 19,311 by issuing 690 000 bearer shares with a nom-
inal value of CHF 10 each (Tranche A of the capital increase). 
In addition, the shareholders also resolved to increase the 
share capital from TCHF 19,311 to TCHF 21,242 by issuing 
193,110 registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 10 
each (Tranche B of the capital increase). Tranche A of the 
capital increase was entered in the Commercial Register on 
6 July 2005. Tranche B of the capital increase was entered 
in the Commercial Register on 11 August 2005. Further-
more, the 690 bearer shares from Tranche A were con-
verted into registered shares on 11 August 2005.

Authorized capital
At the Shareholders’ Meeting of 22 June 2005, the share-
holders decided to cancel the existing authorized capital 
(175,000 registered shares) and authorized the Board of 
Directors to issue up to a maximum of 600,000 fully paid up 
shares with a nominal value of CHF 10 each until 22 June 
2007. The Board of Directors may waive shareholders’ pre-
ferred subscription rights in cases of acquisition and/or 
debt repayment. The issue price, timing and dividend rights 
attached to such shares are to be determined by the Board 
of Directors.

Conditional capital 
The Shareholders’ Meeting of 17 April 1998 decided to 
authorize the Board of Directors to increase the share cap-
ital up to a maximum of TCHF 175 by issuing 17,500 shares 
at a nominal value of CHF 10 each pursuant to the excercise 
of stock option rights that are granted to members of the 
executive management and members of the senior man-
agement under an employee stock option plan to be estab-
lished by the Board of Directors. No such stock option plan 
has been established since.
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11. Commitments

Operating lease commitments

in CHF 1000    31. 12. 2006  31. 12. 2005

Within 1 year    174 308

Within 2 to 5 years    355 343

Above 5 years    – –

Total   529 651

All operating lease contracts relate to vehicle leasing.

Financial lease commitments

in CHF 1000     31. 12. 2006  31. 12. 2005

Within 1 year    1,592 1,477

Within 2 to 5 years    3,148 2,113

Above 5 years    10 296

Total   4,750 3,886

All fi nancial lease contracts relate to machinery equipment. Lease contracts are 
common and do not restrict other fi nancial dispositions. 
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    Central Services 
  Division PCB Division EMS and Eliminations Total
in CHF 1000  1. 1. – 31. 12. 2006 1. 1. – 31. 12. 2006 1. 1. – 31. 12. 2006 1. 1. – 31. 12. 2006

Income statement
Sales    53,225  121,028 - 174,253

Profi t/Loss from operating activities  6,613 3,600 –1,038 9,175

Balance sheet    31. 12. 2006  31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2006

Intangible segment assets  28,186 59,564 221 87,971

Other than intangible segment assets  62,669 61,912 10,657 135,238

Segment liabilities  54,435 42,758 –2,923 94,270

Other segment information  1. 1. – 31. 12. 2006 1. 1. – 31. 12. 2006 1. 1. – 31. 12. 2006 1. 1. – 31. 12. 2006

Cash fl ow from operations  7,647 834 – 3,581 4,900

Cash fl ow from investing activities  – 3,211 – 3,036 5,024 –1,223

Cash fl ow from fi nancing activities  – 10,677 3,185 12,346 4,854

Depreciation  4,011 2,788 8 6,807

Capital expenditure    3,368 2,810 29 6,207

  31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2006

Warranty provisions  – 769 – 769

 

12. Segment Reporting

The primary segment reporting format is determined to be business segments as 
the groups risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by differences in 
the products and services produced. Secondary information is reported geo-
graphically. The operating businesses are organised and managed separately 
according to the nature of the products and services provided, with each seg-
ment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and 
serves different markets.
The division Printed Circuit Boards (PCB) is a supplier of Printed Circuit Boards 
to various industries. The division Electronic Manufacturing Services (EMS) 
provides electronic manufacturing services to the electronics industry.
No operational transactions have occurred between the two divisions as of the 
reporting period.
The group’s assets are mainly located in Switzerland. For the geographical sales 
split, refer to note 13.
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    Central Services restated*
  Division PCB Division EMS and Eliminations Total
in CHF 1000  1. 1. – 31. 12. 2005 1. 7. – 31. 12. 2005 1. 1. – 31. 12. 2005 1. 1. – 31. 12. 2005

Income statement
Sales  52,288 61,284 – 113,572

Profi t/Loss from operating activities  7,300 4,614 – 509 11,405

Balance sheet  31. 12. 2005 31. 12. 2005 31. 12. 2005 31. 12. 2005

Intangible segment assets  28,186 57,369 – 85,555

Other than intangible segment assets  60,671 57,176 3,246 121,093

Segment liabilities  52,512 40,145 5,388 98,045

Other segment information  1. 1. – 31. 12. 2005 1. 7. – 31. 12. 2005 1. 1. – 31. 12. 2005 1. 1. – 31. 12. 2005

Cash fl ow from operations  4,226 5,802 – 428 9,600

Cash fl ow from investing activities  –1,655 – 2,941 –18,415 – 23,011

Cash fl ow from fi nancing activities  5,726 –12,902 32,560 25,384

Depreciation  3,751 2,021 – 5,772

Capital expenditure    2,767 2,962 23 5,752

  31. 12. 2005 31. 12. 2005 31. 12. 2005 31. 12. 2005

Warranty provisions  256 2,256 – 2,512

* see note 27

The group’s assets are mainly located in Switzerland. 
For the geographical sales split, refer to note 13, sales.
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13. Sales

in CHF 1000   2006 % 2005 %

Sales by destination   

Switzerland    114,017   65.4   65,170   57.4 

Europe    55,347   31.8   45,162   39.7 

Other   4,889  2.8  3,240  2.9 

Total   174,253  100.0  113,572 100.0  

Additional information for sales by application    

Telecommunication industry   45,156  25.9  25,121  22.1  

Medical equipment   20,839  12.0  13,789  12.1 

Machinery   38,915  22.3  13,157  11.7 

Watch industry   10,819  6.2  11,284  9.9 

Test Systems   18,215  10.5   11,053   9.7  

Automotive and transport industry   16,193 9.3 8,768 7.7 

Research and development   5,405 3.1 6,075 5.3 

Other    18,711   10.7   24,325   21.5 

Total   174,253  100.0  113,572  100.0 

14. Employees
    2006 2005

Number of employees as of 31 December
Production    580 586

Marketing and sales    63 57

Administration    73 77

Total    716 720
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15. Financial income and expense

in CHF 1000    2006 2005

Income
Interest income    419 232

Foreign exchange gains    1,381 469

Total   1,800 701

Expense
Interest expense    2,227 1,751

Foreign exchange loss    1,193 565

Total   3,420 2,316

16. Personnel costs

in CHF 1000    2006 2005

Wages and salaries    42,279 28,944

Social security costs    7,383 4,910

Other personnel costs    2,676 916

Total   52,338 34,770
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17. Pension plans

Defi ned benefi t plan 

in CHF 1000    2006 2005

Fair value of plan assets    54,492 32,021

Present value of defi ned benefi t obligation    – 53,998 – 33,066

Financial surplus/shortfall    494 – 1,045

Unrecognized actuarial loss    –  38

Total net book value    494 – 1,007

Adjustment (Paragraph 58)    – 747 – 

Total net book value after adjustment   – 253 – 1,007

Periodic pension cost for defi ned benefi t plans

Current service cost     3,587 2,479

Interest cost on benefi t obligation     1,518 1,372

Expected return on plan assets     – 2,259 – 1,382

Net actuarial loss (gain) recognized in the year    – 587 2,315

Past service cost (gain)    –  – 5,234

Employees’ contributions     – 1,449 – 956

Adjustment (Paragraph 58)    747 –

Additional plans    517 –

Total periodic pension cost    2,074 – 1,406 

Changes in the present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation

Defi ned benefi t obligation at 1 January     33,066 35,720

Additional plans     12,352 – 

Service cost    3,587 2,479

Interest cost     1,518 1,372

Benefi ts paid     – 1,603 – 1,559

Plan amendments     –  – 5,234

Actuarial gains on benefi t obligation    5,078 288

Defi ned benefi t obligation at 31 December   53,998 33,066
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Changes in the fair value of plan assets

in CHF 1000    2006 2005

Fair value of plan assets at 1 January    32,021 31,205

Additional plans     11,834 –

Expected return of plan assets    2,259 1,382

Employees’ contributions    1,449 1,092

Employers’ contributions    2,867 1,967

Benefi ts paid    – 1,603 – 1,559

Actuarial gains/(losses) on plan assets    5,665 – 2,066

Fair value of plan assets at 31 December    54,492 32,021

Movements in the benefi t liabilities   

in CHF 1000    2006 2005

Benefi t liabilities at 1 January    – 1,007 –

Acquired liabilities    – – 4,380

Amortization of unrecognized actuarial loss    – 38 –

Benefi t expense    – 2,074 1,406

Contribution    2,866 1,967

Benefi t asset/(liability) at 31 December   – 253 – 1,007

Basics of actuarial calculations

weighted averages

Discount rate    3.25 % 3.25 %

Expected return on assets    5.00 % 4.35 %

Salary increases    0.50 % 0.50 %

Increase in pensions    0.25 % 0.36 %

2006
The composition of plan assets was not made available by insurance companies. 
The employers contribution in 2007 is estimated at CHF 2.9 million. The addi-
tional plans in 2006 concern three companies for which either the data was not 
available from an insurance company, the provider of the pension plan changed 
or a plan was considered non material.

2005
The amount of TCHF 5,234 was due to the transition from defi ned benefi t plan 
to defi ned contribution plan of one of the acquired companies.
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18. Profi t per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profi t attributable to 
shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year.

    2006 2005

Net profi t attributable to shareholders (in CHF 1000)   7,231 8,517

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding   2,124,210 1,603,730

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in CHF)   3.40 5.31

Diluted earnings per share are the same as basic earnings per share, as the 
option plan, foreseen in the “conditional capital” option given to the Board of 
Directors, is not yet in place.

19. Contingent liabilities

2006
The lease agreement of Auparc AG lasts till 2010. In 2003 and 2004 Auparc AG 
faced three times a water ingress, caused by a roof that was not watertight. 
Since the lessor did not react to this severe situation (water ingress in a elec-
tronic manufacturing company), Auparc AG gave notice as per 30 April 2005, 
based on Art. 259b lit. a of the Swiss Code of Obligation. This notice is subject 
to a legal case. The decision of the court of fi rst instance was in full favour of 
Auparc. However, the counterparty fi led an appeal which is still pending in court. 
Management assessed the probability of a negative outcome for the company 
as being remote. The reassessment of a certain warranty risk resulted in the 
dissolution of the provision concerned of TCHF 1,718 as the probability of an 
obligation for compensation is remote (note 6).

2005
On 31 December 2005, the Group had a contingent liability regarding a govern-
ment grant received from the Canton of Neuchâtel. The Group received TCHF 
593 in 2000 and TCHF 162 in 2002 for the creation of working places in the Can-
ton of Neuchâtel (TCHF 10 per full-time working place). This grant was repayable 
for each cancelled job.
The amount repayable decreased by 20 % every year so as to reach a maximum 
of TCHF 65 as per 31 December 2005 (TCHF 216 in 2004). The repayment obli-
gation expired in 2006.
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20. Related parties disclosures

The consolidated fi nancial statements include the fi nancial 
statements of Cicor Technologies, Boudry, and the subsidi-
aries listed in note 25. 

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

in CHF 1000    2006 2005

Short term employee benefi ts    592 420

Post-employment pension benefi ts    79 55 

Consulting     48   196 

Other    42  107 

Total compensation of executive members of the board and executive management 761  778
No share based payments have been made in 2006   – –

Compensation of non-executive directors      
Non-executive directors received a total remuneration incl. consulting of  82 321



Cicor Technologies Annual Report 2006    Financial Statements
  77

21. Business combinations

2006
On 9 September 2006 the Board of Directors decided to 
release 60,000 shares as fi nal settlement to the vendor of 
Electronicparc Holding AG, Bronschhofen. This transaction 
constitutes an increase of the acquisition price by TCHF 
4,788. The goodwill increased accordingly (note 2). As it is 
a non cash transaction it does not appear on the cash fl ow 
statement.
On 12 December 2006 the vendor of Electronicparc Hold-
ing AG, Bronschhofen, also accepted to bear certain costs 
and writedowns of TCHF 2,600 which were booked accord-
ing to IFRS 3 as a purchase price reduction (note 2). The 
corresponding costs were charged to the income state-
ment of the companies concerned.

in CHF 1000  

Acquisition price 2005  70,453

Final settlement   4,788

Restitution of costs   – 2,600

Acquisition cost 2006  8

Total acquisition cost corrected  72,649

Net assets acquired   22,267

Restatement (note 27)  2,067

Goodwill   52,449

Recapitulation

Restated goodwill amount   50,253 

Final settlement   4,788

Restitution of costs   – 2,600

Acquisition cost 2006  8

New goodwill amount  52,449

2005
On 1 July 2005, Cicor Technologies acquired 100 % of 
Electronicparc Holding AG, Bronschhofen, which controlled 
100 % of:     
Auparc AG, Rapperswil-Jona    
Swisstronics Contract Manufacturing AG, Bronschhofen 
Systel SA, Quartino    
Systel Italia SRL, Milano    
Systronics SRL, Arad/Romania    

The newly acquired companies constituted the Electronic 
Manufacturing Services (EMS) division, which manufac-
tures electronic products and enclosure systems for OEM’s, 
system integrators and other EMS providers.
The fair value of the identifi able assets and liabilities of 
Electronicparc Holding AG at the date of acquisition was as 
follows:

in CHF 1000 recognized on acquisition carrying value 

Current assets  64,396 64,396 

Non-current assets  14,247 14,077 

Current liabilities  – 45,103 – 45,103 

Non-current liabilities –13,340 –11,273 

Assigned net assets  20,200 –

Goodwill  50,253 –

Total acquisition price 70,453 –

Recapitulation

Original goodwill amount  48,186

Restatement deferred tax liabilities (note 27)  1,790

Restatement jubilee bonus (note 27)  277

Restated goodwill 31.12.05  50,253
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The acquisition was fi nanced by shares and cash as follows: 
On 22 June 2005, the ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting 
resolved to increase the share capital from TCHF 12,411
to TCHF 19,311 by issuing 690,000 bearer shares with a 
nominal value of CHF 10.– each (converted to registered 
shares on 19 August 2005). These shares constituted part 
of the consideration paid by Cicor Technologies to the ven-
dors of Electronicparc Holding AG. 
Subsequently the vendors and Cicor Technologies decided 
to increase the variable part of the purchase price against 
the fi xed part. Consequently the vendors of Electronicparc 
Holding AG would be able to obtain 200,000 shares of the 
above 690,000 shares contingent on a performance-related 
schedule in 2006 and 2007. Cicor Technologies temporarily 
held the 200,000 shares as Treasury shares.
As of the closing date, the management evaluated the prob-
ability that all or part of the contingent consideration would 
become due as negligible.
Furthermore, Cicor Technologies paid the vendor a sum 
of TCHF 30,000 in cash and undertook to pay TCHF 5,000 
contingent on the achievement of fi nancial targets by end 
of 2005 (fi nal payment: TCHF 30,000).
The following represented the allocation of the purchase 
price to the acquired assets and liabilities of Electronicparc 
Holding AG:

  No. of shares

Shares issued (price in shares)   690,000 

Treasury shares (contingent price in shares)   – 200,000 

in CHF 1000 

Price in shares (CHF 10.–)   4,900 

Share premium (CHF 69.80)   34,202 

Consideration in cash   30,000 

Transaction cost    1,351 

Total acquisition cost   70,453 
Price paid trough remittance of company shares  – 39,102 

Purchase price paid in cash   31,351 

Cash acquired      – 12,880 

Net cash used    18,471 

The newly acquired companies were consolidated as from 
the date the control was acquired.
The identifi able assets were evaluated and refl ected in the 
consolidated fi gures according to the purchase method. 
The goodwill was allocated to the business unit. The consid-
eration in shares (TCHF 39,102 nominal value and share 
premium) does not constitute a cash transaction and there-
fore does not appear on the cash fl ow statement.

Pro forma income statement 2005
Had Electronicparc Holding AG been acquired on 1 January 
2005, the income statement would have been as follows:

 1.1.–31. 12. 2005
in CHF 100  pro forma (unaudited)

Sales     179,245

Changes in work in progress  –673

Other operating income  105

Operating income   178,677
Material costs     – 90,515

Personnel costs   – 52,365

Other operating expenses  – 15,846

Depreciation   – 7,032

Operating expenses  – 165,758
Profi t from operating activities 
before interest and taxes (EBIT)  12,919
Financial income   1,173

Financial expenses   – 3,017

Profi t before tax   11,075
Income tax   – 1,286

Profi t   9,789

The consolidated pro forma result of the group was sub-
stantially infl uenced by supplementary costs in the compa-
nies of Electronicparc Holding AG during the fi rst six months 
of the year. The restructuring of Auparc AG due to the weak 
market for defence products and the launch of a new soft-
ware implementation project were the main reasons.
The acquisition of Electronicparc Holding AG and its subsid-
iary companies added a net profi t after tax of TCHF 4,316 
to the Group’s results in 2005.
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growth rate of 6.8 % over the 3 year forecasting period. 
If the discount rate were to increase by about 5.0 %, the 
recoverable amount would be equal to the carrying value of 
the cash generating unit. Furthermore, if the estimated 
growth rate applied to the forecasting period would decline 
to approximately –10.0 %, the recoverable amount would be 
equal to the carrying value.
The recoverable amount of the EMS division to which the 
goodwill belongs is estimated to be CHF 120.1 million, com-
pared with a carrying value of CHF 88.8 million. Key assump-
tions used in the estimate are the pretax discount rate of 
7.3 % and an average revenue growth rate of 6.5 % over the 
3 year forecasting period. If the discount rate were to 
increase by about 2.3 %, the recoverable amount would be 
equal to the carrying value of the cash generating unit. Fur-
thermore, if the estimated growth rate applied to the fore-
casting period would decline to approximately –4.0 %, the 
recoverable amount would be equal to the carrying value.
Changes to the two key assumptions could have a com-
bined effect, if both assumptions were to change during the 
same period. 
Two further elements of intangible assets other than good-
will have indefi nite lives and were tested for impairment. 
The relief from royalty method was applied to evaluate the 
brand.

in CHF 1000 2006 2005

Brandname 6,711 6,711

Software licenses 405 405

22. Impairment testing

The Group consists of two cash generating units which are 
the two operational divisions. The goodwill is allocated to: 

The recoverable amount of these business units has been 
determined on the basis of a value in use calculation. The 
underlying present values of future cash fl ows of the busi-
ness units are based on fi nancial budgets for a three year 
period and a terminal value based on the cash fl ow projec-
tions beyond the period covered by the most recent plans 
using a zero growth rate for subsequent years.The plans 
used are generated bottom-up, worked by senior manage-
ment and approved by the Board of Directors.
The pre-tax discount rate in 2006 equals 8.0 % for PCB and 
7.3 % for EMS division and was derived using market data 
provided by a large Swiss fi nancial institution. The carrying 
amount of goodwill did not exceed the recoverable 
amount.
In 2005 discount rates of 13.2 % (PCB) and 13.7 % (EMS) 
were used. As a second opinion a pre-tax rate of 7.8 % for 
PCB and 6.9 % for EMS division was applied which was pro-
vided by the same Swiss fi nancial institution as in 2006. In 
both cases the carrying amount of goodwill did not exceed 
the recoverable amount. 
When estimating the recoverable amount related to the 
impairment test of the goodwill for the cash generating 
units, the company applied certain key assumptions. It is 
reasonably possible that changes in such key assumptions 
could result in a material impairment in future periods.
The recoverable amount of the PCB division is estimated to 
be CHF 130.5 million, compared with a carrying value of 
CHF 74.8 million. Key assumptions used in the estimate are 
the pretax discount rate of 8.0 % and an average revenue 

     restated*
in CHF 1000   Notes 2006 2005

Printed Circuit Boards (PCB)     28,186  28,186 

Electronic Manufacturing Services (EMS)   (2,21) 52,449 50,253 

Goodwill as of 31 December 2006   80,635 78,439  

* see note 27
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23. Financial Risk Management

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest 
rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obli-
gations. The fi nancial debt was restructured in 2005 (see 
note 8) and the interest rates fi xed until 2010. The Group’s 
policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fi xed and 
variable debt.  

Credit risk
Counterparty risks are minimized and monitored by strictly 
limiting the Group’s associations to fi rst-class business 
partners. Trade receivables are monitored on an ongoing 
basis via Group management reporting procedures. The 
danger of risk concentrations is generally minimized by the 
large number of customer credit balances, with one excep-
tion: The biggest single customer accounts for 28.0 % of the 
revenues in 2006 (19.9 % in 2005). It is one of the world’s 

largest public companies, rated AA- by Standard & Poor’s.
The assets exposing the group to a credit risk are: cash and 
cash equivalents, trade accounts receivables, other current 
receivables and other non-current receivables. The Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying 
amount of these instruments, i. e. CHF 56.1 million as at 
31 December 2006 (2005: CHF 42.4 million).
The group minimizes credit risk exposure by investing in 
short-term funds of high credit rated banks.

Foreign currency risk
The group sells its products in several countries and, as a 
result, is exposed to movements in foreign currency 
exchange rates. The risk is limited because some sales are 
invoiced in the same currency as the costs of goods sold 
are denominated.
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24. Financial instruments

Fair value of fi nancial assets and liabilities

  net book fair net book fair
  value value value value
in CHF 1000 notes 31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005 31. 12. 2005

Financial assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  (5) 22,907 22,907 14,364 14,364

Trade accounts receivable  (4)  28,325   28,325  23,411 23,411

Other fi nancial assets (current and non-current)  4,888   4,888  4,673 4,673 

Financial liabilities
Current and non-current fi nancial debts*  (8) 55,645 55,146 56,321 55,580

Trade accounts payable  21,752   21,752  19,575 19,575

Other fi nancial liablilities  3,839   3,839  5,887 5,887

* of which CHF 36.6 million fi xed advances

No forward contracts nor derivative hedge instruments for 
the management of currency or interest rate risks are open 
on 31 December 2006.
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26. Treasury shares 
    Shares CHF 1000

Balance as 01. 01. 2005    – –
Capital increase, 06. 07. 2005    200,000 15,960

Balance as per 31.12. 2005   200,000 15,960
Final consideration for acquisition of Electronicparc Holding AG 12. 12. 2006 (see also note 21)  – 60,000 – 4,788

Placement 12. 12. 2006 (without premium of TCHF 1,207)   – 85,000 – 6,783

Balance as per 31.12. 2006   55,000 4,389

25. Subsidiaries

in CHF 1000    Participation Currency 2006 2005

Cicorel SA, Boudry/Switzerland
Engineering/Production/Sales/Distribution   100 % CHF 8,000 5,000

Photochemie AG, Unterägeri/Switzerland 

Engineering/Production/Sales/Distribution   100 % CHF 1,000  1,000

NMS SA, Moudon*/Switzerland   

Engineering/Production/Sales/Distribution   100 % CHF – 3,000

Electronicparc Holding AG, Bronschhofen/Switzerland
Holding/Finance   100 % CHF  23,271 23,271

Auparc AG, Rapperswil-Jona/Switzerland   

Engineering   100 % CHF 500 500

Systel SA, Quartino/Switzerland 
Engineering/Production/Sales/Distribution   100 % CHF 750 750

Swisstronics Contract Manufacturing AG, Bronschhofen/Switzerland   

Engineering/Production/Sales/Distribution   100 % CHF 3,000 3,000

Systronics SRL, Arad/Romania
Production    100 % RON 5,145 5,145

Systel Italia SRL, Milano/Italy
Sales/Distribution   100 % EUR 10 10

Cicor Management AG, Zurich/Switzerland
Management Services   100 % CHF 250 250

* NMS SA, Moudon, was merged with Cicorel SA, Boudry, on 6. 6. 2006 (SHAB).
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27. Restatement

Electronicparc Holding AG and its subsidiary companies 
were acquired by Cicor Technologies as per 1 July 2005. 
During the subsequent purchase price allocation two Intan-
gible Assets were identifi ed, namely Software Licences and 
a Brand Name. As the relevant company benefi ts from a tax 
exemption, no deferred taxes were calculated on these 
items. According to IAS 12 the tax rate, which is in force 
notwithstanding the tax exemption is to be applied because 
of the assumption of an indefi nite life and because the tax 
exemption will expire in the future. This leads to a correc-
tion of this error in 2005 statements. The total amount of 
the two assets of TCHF 7,116 calculated at a tax rate of 
25.1 % results in a Deferred Tax Liability of TCHF 1,790.
Also, during 2006, the obligation for jubilee benefi t was 
established and recognized as a provision of TCHF 590. In 
accordance with IAS 8, the necessary correction of an error 
was posted in the earliest period and accordingly is included 
in the restatement of opening equity at 1 January 2005 with 
TCHF 243. The remaining portion of TCHF 277 was cor-
rected as part of the acquired assets of the EMS division. 
As the impact on the income statement in 2005 was imma-
terial, no restatement of the income statement was made.

28. Subsequent events

In December 2006, the group announced a planned strategic 
alliance with the Reinhardt Microtech Group located in 
Wangs, Switzerland.
Specialising in thin-fi lm technology, the Reinhardt Microtech 
Group is specialized on customer-specifi c applications in the 
fi eld of high-precision resistance networks, radar technology 
and micro-systems. Reinhardt Microtech’s products are 

included in various applications in medicine, telecommunica-
tions, aeronautics and the automotive industry. 
The Reinhardt Microtech Group employs a workforce of 
around 80 and for 2006 the company expects total sales of 
CHF 17 million. The group anticipates sales growth for the 
coming years to be in the double-digit range. The integration 
planned for 2007 depends on the successful completion of 
due diligence investigations and on various other approvals 
still to be obtained.
Furthermore, the group intends to acquire a 36 % sharehold-
ing interest in ESG Holding PTE Ltd., Singapore, combined 
with an option to increase the shareholding to 52 %. ESG is 
currently under Swiss management and is active in the fi eld 
of implementing complex technologies and processes. The 
company operates production plants in Singapore, Indonesia 
and Vietnam.
In March 2007, the group has signed a memorandum of 
understanding with the partners of RHe Microsystems GmbH, 
which envisages the integration of the company into Cicor 
Technologies. RHe manufactures client-specifi c microsys-
tems and microelectronics modules. RHe’s main focuses 
are the aerospace industry and telecommunications. RHe 
employs a workforce of about 60 and in 2006 achieved sales 
of approx. EUR 7 million. 
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Report of the Group Auditors

As auditors of the Group, we have audited the consolidated 
fi nancial statements ( balance sheet, income statement, 
statement of cash fl ows, statement of shareholder’s equity, 
and notes, pages 46 to 83) of Cicor Technologies for the 
year ended December 31, 2006.
These consolidated fi nancial statements are the respon-
sibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on 
our audit. We confi rm that we meet the legal requirements 
concerning professional qualifi cation and independence.
Our audit was conducted in accordance with Swiss Auditing 
Standards and International Standards on Auditing ( ISA), 
which require that an audit be so planned and performed as 
to obtain reasonable assurance regarding whether the 
fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement. 
We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated fi nancial state-
ments. We have also assessed the accounting principles 
used, signifi cant estimates made and the overall consoli-
dated fi nancial statements presentation. We believe that 
our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements give 
a true and fair view of the fi nancial position, the results of 
operations, the changes in equity and the cash fl ows in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Stand-
ards ( IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.
We recommend that the fi nancial statements submitted to 
you be approved.

Lausanne, April 2, 2007
Ernst & Young Ltd.

Daniel Wüst Bernhard Büchel
Certifi ed Accountant Certifi ed Accountant
 ( in charge of the audit )
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Financial Statements 
of Cicor Technologies (Holding)

Balance sheet

in CHF 1000    31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Assets  
Investments    112,395 107,600

Long-term loans to group companies    20,300 20,300

Long-term loan to group company subordinated   11,000 11,000

Provision on subordinated loan to a group company   – –11,000

Other long term assets    250 350

Non-current assets   143,945 128,250
Other receivables  

– third parties    39 6

– group companies     856 43

Short term loans to group companies    2,500 2,581

Accruals    119 143

Treasury shares    4,389 15,960

Cash and cash equivalents    17,075 7,652

Current assets   24,978 26,385
Total Assets   168,923 154,635

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity  
Ordinary share capital    21,242 21,242

General reserve    223 223

Share premium    93,382 81,811

Reserve on treasury shares    4,389 15,960

Retained earnings  

– loss brought forward    – 8,585 – 8,517

– net profi t for the year    19,675 – 68

Shareholders’ equity   130,326  110,651

Financial debts  

– third parties    23,400 31,200

Non-current liabilities   23,400 31,200

Financial liabilities  

– third parties    7,800 7,800

– group companies    6,857 4,444

Other payables    256 85

Accrued expenses    284 455

Current liabilities   15,197 12,784
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   168,923 154,635
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Income statement 

in CHF 1000    2006 2005

Income   
Financal income     9,000 –

Extraordinary income     11,000 –

Interest received from group companies    849 866

Interest received from third parties    148 19

Profi t from sale of treasury shares    1,207 –

Other income    – 875

Total income   22,204 1,760

Expenses  
Administrative expense    957 1,113

Financial expense    1,405 590

Tax     167 125

Total expenses   2,529 1,828
Profi t for the year   19,675 –68
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
of Cicor Technologies (Holding)

Contingent liabilities
 

in CHF 1000    31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Guarantee in favour of the Canton of Neuchâtel     3,000 3,000

For the syndicated credit contracted in 2005, the company 
grants guarantees in favour of a bank in the amount of TCHF 
20,400 (2005: TCHF 18,000).
The company is part of a VAT group and is consequently an 
independent debtor towards the Swiss Federal Tax Admin-
istration for the other members’ VAT commitments.

Pledged assets
The shares of the following companies at a book value of 
TCHF 112,145 (2005: TCHF 107,350) are in deposit with 
Credit Suisse and pledged as collateral for the syndicated 
credit line contracted in 2005: Photochemie AG, Cicorel SA, 
Electronicparc Holding AG.
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Capital structure

in CHF    31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Share capital at 31 December                                                                                                                

2,124,210 registered shares of CHF 10.–     21,242,100 21,242,100

Investments

in CHF 1000   Participation in 31. 12. 2006 31. 12. 2005

Cicorel SA, Boudry/Switzerland
Sales/Engineering/Production   100 % 8,000 5,000

Photochemie AG, Unterägeri/Switzerland 
Sales/Engineering/Production   100 % 1,000 1,000

NMS SA, Moudon*/Switzerland
Sales/Engineering/Production   100 % – 3,000

Electronicparc Holding AG, Bronschhofen/Switzerland  
Holding/Finance   100 % 23,271 23,271

Cicor Management AG, Zurich/Switzerland  
Management Services   100 % 250 250

* NMS SA, Moudon, was merged with Cicorel SA, Boudry, on 6. 6. 2006 (SHAB).

Goodwill related to investments was reclassifi ed to investments.
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Issued capital and changes in capital structure
On 22 June 2005, the ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting 
resolved to increase the share capital from TCHF 12,411 to 
TCHF 19,311 by issuing 690,000 bearer shares with a nom-
inal value of CHF 10 each (Tranche A of the capital 
increase). In addition, the shareholders also resolved to 
increase the share capital from TCHF 19,311 to TCHF 
21,242 by issuing 193,110 registered shares with a nominal 
value of CHF 10 each (Tranche B of the capital increase). 
Tranche A of the capital increase was entered in the Com-
mercial Register on 6 July 2005. Tranche B of the capital 
increase was entered in the Commercial Register on 11 
August 2005. Furthermore, the 690,000 bearer shares 
from Tranche A were converted into registered shares on 
11 August 2005.

Authorized capital
At the Shareholders’ Meeting of 22 June 2005, the share-
holders decided to cancel the existing authorized capital 
(175,000 registered shares) and authorized the Board of 
Directors to issue up to a maximum of 600,000 fully paid up 
shares with a nominal value of CHF 10 each until 22 June 
2007. The Board of Directors may waive shareholders 
preferred subscription rights in cases of acquisition and/or 
debt repayment. The issue price, timing and dividend rights 
attached to such shares are to be determined by the Board 
of Directors.

Conditional capital
The Shareholders’ Meeting of 17 April 1998 decided to 
authorize the Board of Directors to increase the conditional 
share capital a maximum of TCHF 175 by issuing 17,500 
shares at a nominal value of CHF 10 each pursuant to the 
exercise of stock option rights that are granted to members 
of the executive management and members of the senior 
management under an employee stock option plan to be 
established by the Board of Directors. No such stock option 
plan has been established since.

Treasury shares 

  Number of shares

6 July 2005 created via Capital increase  200,000

31 December 2005   200,000

12 December 2006 fi nal consideration

Electronicparc Holding AG  – 60,000

12 December 2006 placement  – 85,000

31 December 2006   55,000

Subsequent to the acquisition of Electronicparc Holding 
AG, Bronschhofen, Cicor Technologies and the vendors 
decided to increase the variable part of the purchase price 
against the fi xed part as follows: The vendors of Electron-
icparc Holding AG would be able to obtain 200,000 shares 
at CHF 79.80 each contingent on a performance-related 
schedule in 2006 and 2007. On 12 December 2006 a fi nal 
settlement of 60,000 shares to the vendor of Electronicparc 
Holding AG took place. Also on 12 December 2006, 85,000 
shares were placed in the market at a price of CHF 94 net, 
which constitutes a gain of CHF 14.20 per share.
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                                    31.12.2006                                  31.12.2005 

   Number   Percentage  Number   Percentage 
   of shares of voting rights of shares  of voting rights

FiFund Management AG, St-Cergue   110,000 5.18 % – –

Vontobel Fonds Services AG, Zurich   114,434 5.39 % – –

3V Asset Managment AG, Zurich   140,000 6.59 % – –

CGS (Jersey) Ltd., St. Helier, Jersey (Channel Island)  – < 5 % 246,047 11.6 %

Cicor Technologies, Boudry   – < 5 % 200,000 9.4 %

General
Under Swiss law, dividends are paid out only after approval 
by the Shareholders’ Meeting. Swiss law requires that at 
least 5 % of the annual net profi t of the Company must be 
retained by the company as general reserve until this 
reserve amounts to 20 % of the company’s nominal share 
capital. Share premiums can only be distributed on the por-
tion above 20 % of the share capital. Cicor Technologies 
general reserve exceeds the legal requirement.

Proposed appropriation of available earnings

in CHF 1000 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Loss carry forward    – 8,585 – 8,517

Net profi t/-loss  19,675 – 68

Transfer to legal reserves – 554 –

Dividend  – –

Profi t carry forward  10,536 – 8,585

Principal shareholders
At 31 December 2006 the following principal shareholders 
(more than 5 % of the share-capital or voting rights) were 
recorded in the share register:
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Report of the Statutory Auditors

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting 
records and the fi nancial statements ( balance sheet, profi t 
and loss statement and notes, pages 86 to 91 ) of Cicor 
Technologies for the year ended December 31, 2006. 
These fi nancial statements are the responsibility of the 
Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opin-
ion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We 
confi rm that we meet the legal requirements concerning 
professional qualifi cation and independence.
Our audit was conducted in accordance with Swiss Auditing 
Standards, which require that an audit be planned and per-
formed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement. 
We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. We 
have also assessed the accounting principles used, signifi -
cant estimates made and the overall fi nancial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reason-
able basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the accounting records and fi nancial state-
ments, as well as the proposed appropriation of available 
earnings, comply with Swiss law and the company’s articles 
of incorporation.
We recommend that the fi nancial statements submitted to 
you be approved.

Lausanne, April 2, 2007
Ernst & Young Ltd

Daniel Wüst Bernhard Büchel
Certifi ed Accountant Certifi ed Accountant
 ( in charge of the audit )
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Development of Share Price

Agenda

• Annual General Meeting
 21 June 2007

• Interim Report 2007
 21 September 2007

• Annual Report for 2007
 25 April 2008
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Addresses

Headquarters (Head offi ce)

Cicor Technologies
Route de l’Europe 8
CH-2017 Boudry
Tel.: +41 43 811 44 05
Fax: +41 43 811 44 09
www.cicor.ch

Cicor Management AG
Leutschenbachstr. 95
CH-8050 Zürich
Tel.: +41 43 811 44 05
Fax: +41 43 811 44 09
www.cicor.ch

PCB Division

Photochemie AG
Gewerbestrasse 1
CH-6314 Unterägeri
Tel.: +41 41 754 45 45
Fax: +41 41 754 45 55
www.photochemie.ch

Cicorel SA
Route de l’Europe 8
CH-2017 Boudry
Tel.: +41 32 843 05 00
Fax: +41 32 843 05 99
www.cicorel.ch

Cicorel SA
Avenue de Préville 4
CH-1560 Moudon
Tel.: +41 21 905 92 92
Fax: +41 21 905 92 93
www.cicorel.ch

EMS Division

Swisstronics
Contract Manufacturing AG
Industriestrasse 8
CH-9552 Bronschhofen
Tel.: +41 71 912 77 99
Fax: +41 71 912 77 98
www.swisstronics.ch

Swisstronics
Contract Manufacturing AG
Eichwiesstrasse 20
CH-8645 Rapperswil-Jona
Tel.: +41 55 220 17 17
Fax: +41 55 220 17 18
www.swisstronics.ch

Systel SA
Via Luserte Sud, 7
CH-6572 Quartino
Tel.: +41 91 850 38 11
Fax: +41 91 850 39 88
www.systel.ch

Systronics SRL
Zona Parc Industrial N-V, F-N
RO-2900 Arad
Tel.: +40 257 285 944
Fax: +40 257 216 733
www.systronics.ro
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